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Writing for an Annual Report amounts to a correction course. More shortcomings become visible than the achievements, as it should be! I 
guess, most leaders of any organization, big or small, initially shudder to look at themselves in the mirror, but then are mentally prepared 
to know what’s lying there – be it with a corporate behemoth or a top-class NGO like CFBP. Disappointments galore (depending on how 
you view them, of course) make way for bigger achievements and life-changing goals - the attempt to effortlessly lift the weight of the 
legacy left by its illustrious Founders constantly lies on my shoulders. 

We began the year with the Café Expo 2.0 that took place in Kolkata on 30th April, 2024 organised by our West Bengal Chapter –Head and 
Executive Committee Member, CFBP Kavita Agarwal with the same fanfare as its first edition. Comprehensive in its sweep, it catered to 
women of all ages beset with their ambitions, challenges, travails and above all, the steady flame of desire to achieve their goals.  Also, our 
Invitee Member Ragini Goyal had organised Seenager 2024 in Siliguri, which showcased women achievers over 45. 

It was heart-warming to see my Article on the Edit Page of the Economic Times dealing with the protection of the medical fraternity.  Iconic 
as the Edit Page is in terms of its content and presentation, the plaudits I received were worth the effort! Dainik Vishwamitra, a 
Kolkata-based Hindi daily took my interview where I spoke about the spreading of the message of Fair Practices. Also, I had my Podcast 
with the Zurich-based Manisha Dadlani about the organisation, its achievements so far and its future goals. One can google the same to 
view it on YouTube, Spotify and Instagram and Apple.com.

We did hold a Webinar on 20th July to rope in young minds curated by our Students’ Chapter representative and Invitee Kunhi Saikia based 
in Assam.  It addressed various challenges faced by the youth in the sphere of Education -particularly Infrastructure, Fee Structure and 
Assessment and Gender Equality.  

When the Society magazine had its digital re-launch, it was a very decent affair with the noted actress Manisha Koirala as the Chief Guest.  
Meeting the veteran Nari Hira and others and standing alongside her was a satisfying moment as I was invited impromptu to share the stage 
with her by the Management.  Also, I had the opportunity to attend the ET 40 under 40 Awards – a flagship programme of Bennett Coleman 
Group.  It saw the captains of industry and key professionals both as Jury and Audience honouring 40 young achievers.  

CAFÉ PEHCHAAN 4.0 held on 1st August at ITC Royal Bengal, Kolkata.  Two educative talks – one with Pooja Bedi (on self-belief) and 
the other with Aarti Gupta (on self-financing) followed by a Fashion Show promoting local designers had the huge audience enthralled.  

The Holistic Summit 2.0 had 10-15 women under the leadership of both Dr. Mickey Mehta (Advisory Board Member and Chairman, 
Wellness Committee) and Leena Gupta (Executive Committee Member) had set up Panels and secured diverse Stalls for the mega-Event.  
Also, this coincided with the 44th Career Anniversary of Dr. Mickey Mehta.  Many luminaries such as Luke Coutinho, Ma Hansaji, 
Hrishikesh Kannan, Kumaar Bagrodia, Vivek Singh, Swami Nityanand Charan Das and Khurshed Batliwala participated whole-heartedly.  
Prior to these Panels, we felicitated Padma Bhushan Dr. Ashwin Mehta and then we had a Panel Discussion with him and leading Actress 
and cancer-survivor Manisha Koirala.  Then, we had another informative Panel discussion with Padma Shri Dr. Batra and Dr. Hemant 
Thacker.  We concluded the Event with a Fireside Chat with leading Fitness Expert Yasmin Karachiwala where both Mickey and I had 
different questions for her, which she answered with her usual aplomb.  The many photos show the grandeur of this Event in terms of its 
reach and impact.  The Society Magazine was our digital Partner.

Our maiden venture into Leadership Summit with the theme “Leadership Then Leadership Now” took place on 21st October, 2024.  The 
Summit was an intellectual affair with industry experts putting forth their views engaging the audience into two aspects mainly – how 
different is it now being a leader than before and does it vary from industry to industry.  My Executive Committee Member Nikitsha 
Chopra assisted me very ably by moderating the Second Panel, and also, getting some Panelists.  Likewise, I extended my gratitude to my 
Executive Committee Member and Co-Chair Marketing Committee Menaka Deorah for bringing in some Panelists too.  Our Advisory 
Member Manisha Girotra and I got ourselves published in Business India on the new B-Schools as the issue was a special one on 
B-Schools.  

On December 17, 2024, we hosted a Flagship Programme titled, “CFBP Women Empowerment Summit” 
with the same fanfare and glory. The Taj Lands End, Bandra was the perfect backdrop and our Chief Guest 
Nandita Das with Guests of Honour Dr. Pheroza Godrej and Padma Shri Prasoon Joshi were the cynosure 
of all eyes. Our Executive Committee Member Payal Kothari had been working tirelessly since a few 
months and it bore fruit. We introduced Awards to felicitate NGOs / Individuals that promoted Women / 
Girl Child. Also, our Advisory Board Member Shaina NC worked hard to ensure that the Fashion Show 
portrayed the twin goals of Cancer Patients Aid and Women Empowerment at its best – approximately 43 
women of all shapes, sizes, vocations and age walked the ramp adding that dash of glamour to a purpose! 
It was covered in the Economic Times.

The months of February and March were extremely impactful in the sense that the Annual Ethics Seminar 
held on February 26, 2025 at the Taj Lands End was a blockbuster. Two panels with four panelists each 
including a moderator – me and my EC Member Nikitsha Chopra - highlighted important questions facing 
the corporate world.  The Event (primarily supported by Tatas and VIP) saw many a corporate honcho 
attend and as usual it was covered by way of an Advertisement in the ET Panache.    

The 37th Jamnalal Bajaj Awards held on March 24, 2025 had, once again, a record collection and a big 
audience underlining the importance of Fair Practices in Business.  Major companies including Charitable 
Association were the Winners proud to take back home the Trophy and Certificate alike.  The highlight of 
this Event was a crisp and enlightening speech from our Chief Guest – Ravi Kant, former Managing 
Director, Tata Motors Ltd.  Of course, a sumptuous dinner followed where people warmly networked 
giving the evening a pleasant close.

Many articles were written during the last year and you will enjoy reading the pick of them. I had written 
other two Articles on fake Alphonso Mangoes and the Justice Varma Cash Scandal which got published 
on the Edit Page of the Economic Times.  Many others were part of Business India.  I hope you enjoy 
reading them as much I did writing them.  

I have great ambitions for CFBP and hope to see it much more accomplished as we go along. In the history 
of CFBP, there has been only one President i.e. Mr. Harish Mahindra who has had three terms 
(1977-1983) and I am privileged to lead it for four terms.  I hope to live up to the expectations of one and 
all. 

I believe that when one works hard, the Almighty gives you certain signs coupled with bits of luck thrown 
in.  All one has to do is to notice the signs, persevere and accomplish.  I end with a quote from that great 
British Prime Minister,

 “I do not know anyone who has got to the top without hard work.  That is 
 the recipe. It will not always get you to the top, but should get you pretty near.”

I’d like to think that we at CFBP are pretty near.  

                                Margaret Thatcher

Swapnil S. Kothari

HEARTFELT FROM
THE PRESIDENT
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Notice is hereby given that the Fifty-Eighth Annual General Meeting of the Council For Fair Business 
Practices will be held on Friday, 22nd August, 2025 at 4.00 p.m. in the Dilip Piramal Conference 
Room of CFBP, Great Western Bldg., 130/132, S.B. Singh Road, Mumbai 400 023 to transact the 
following business :

• To approve the Minutes of the 57th Annual General Meeting held on the 26th September, 2024.

• To consider and adopt the Report of the Executive Committee and Audited Balance Sheet and 
Income and Expenditure Account for the year ended 31st March, 2025.

• To approve the extension of President Swapnil Kothari’s tenure for the fifth term 2026–2028.

• To appoint auditors to hold office from the conclusion of this meeting until the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting and fix their remuneration.

• As per the Bylaws, to acknowledge the contribution of the members (whether Advisory, 
Executive Committee or Invitee) who have been with us for two years or more and to invite 
other new members in their stead to contribute subject to the discretion of the Administrative 
Committee.

• Any other matter with the permission of the Chair.

By order of the Executive Committee
For COUNCIL FOR FAIR BUSINESS PRACTICES

sd/-
Bhalchandra Barve
HON. SECRETARY

Mumbai

Date: 1st August, 2025

Please Note:

• If within half an hour from the time fixed for the meeting there is no quorum, the meeting shall 
stand adjourned and the adjourned meeting shall take place after half an hour on the same day 
and at the same place and the members present shall form the quorum.

NOTICE OF THE 58TH ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING TO MEMBERS OF THE CFBP
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Great Western Building, 130/132, Shahid Bhagat Singh Road, 
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All our esteemed readers including all other non-Patron Members are encouraged to call us and 
let us know if they are interested in becoming Patron Members and it’s resultant benefits besides the fact 

that this List shall be published in every Newsletter (which comes out every two months and goes to about 1000 readers).
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Co-founder & Director

Rashi Peripherals Limited, 
Mumbai

Mr. Savji Dholakia
Chairman & Founder, 
Hari Krishna Exports 

Pvt. Ltd.

Nutritionist, Chef and 
Sustainable 

Fashion Designer

Ms. Tanvi Shah Mr. Vijay. K. Chauhan
Chairman & 

Managing Director
Parle Products Pvt. Ltd.

Managing Director
Krishna Developers Pvt. Ltd

Mr. Vijay S. Khetan
Managing Director

PhillipCapital (India) 
Pvt. Ltd.

Mr. Vineet Bhatnagar

Chairman
Blue Dart Express Limited

Mr. Sharad Upasani
Director

Specialty Products 
and Services (India) LLP

Mr. Som Sengupta
Director

Indcap Advisors Pvt. Ltd.

Mr. Samir Agarwal
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The Administrative Committee of the Council for 
Fair Business Practices (CFBP) has pleasure in 
presenting its 58th Annual Report for the year 
ended  31st March, 2025.

CFBP has significantly expanded the scope of its 
activities to promote fair business practices, 
enhance consumer awareness and safeguard the 
rights of consumers, in the year under review. It has 
engaged more vigorously with consumers as well 
as emphasized the enhancement of its 
membership base.

Executive Committee Meetings

The Executive Committee met 11 times during the 
year to review, expand and promote the activities of 
CFBP. The Administrative Committee, Consumer 
Grievances Redressal Committee, Newsletter 
Editorial Committee, Programmes Committee and 
Awards Committee also met periodically during the 
year to plan, conduct, promote and review their 
respective activities.

Consumer Grievances Redressal Committee 
During the year under review CFBP had received 
869 complaints of which some were not within the 
purview of the Council and in some cases legal 
advice was given by Legal Cell of the CFBP. In some 
cases there was no response from either of the 
parties when the CFBP had asked for further 
details/ supporting documents, hence those cases 
have been closed.
The Consumer Grievances Redressal Committee, 
headed by leading consumer activist Ms. Asha 
Idnani, has eminent consumer activists as its 
members. Complaints received are first screened 
on merit and thereafter. The CFBP writes to the 
company against which the complaint has been 
made for its comments, with a view to arriving at a 
solution. If required, both the parties are invited for 
a meeting at the CFBP office in an attempt to bring 
about a mutually acceptable settlement. CFBP acts 
as a catalyst and helps promote dialogue, 
compromise and resolution   of the dispute by 
conciliation rather than confrontation.

GOT A COMPLAINT?

We are here to help you

Please contact us with all the details and supporting documents. Our Consumer Grievances Redressal 
Committee, headed by Ms. Asha Idnani

RAMKRISHNA BAJAJ –CFBP – SNDT CONSUMER  EDUCATION TESTING CENTRE 
AT SNDT UNIVERSITY CAMPUS AT JUHU

2024-2025

DIRECTOR'S REPORT
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Ramkrishna Bajaj - CFBP Consumer Education And Testing 
Centre

S.N.D.T. WOMEN’S UNIVERSITY, JUHU, MUMBAI – 
400049

 SERVICES IN FOOD ANALYSIS

• Chemical, Microbiological and Sensory Evaluation of 
foods

• Vitamins and Minerals estimation in Foods

• Checking of Food Adulteration   

• Nutritional labeling of Foods

• Potability checking of water        

• Quality check of Raw, Processed, Cooked, Frozen Food

• Shelf life study of Food

• Heavy metal analysis in Homeopathic and Ayurveda 
formulations 

• Projects for utility of kitchenware

 RESEARCH PROJECTS

• Undertakes research work for National laboratories, 
Research scholars, Post graduate students in chemical, 

microbiological and shelf stable studies for development 
of new products.

 CONSULTANCY

• Food Product formulation, Food Packaging, Food Safety 
Guidance, Disseminating knowledge on FSSAI (Food 
Safety and Standards Authority of India) requirements.

 CERTIFICATE COURSE

• HACCP-Hazard analysis critical control Point. A certificate 
course of 16 hours is conducted for students and food 
industry personnel.

 CLIENTS 

• Food industries, Food business operators, Corporate 
Houses, University Departments, Railways, Hospitals, 
Schools, Cooperative societies, Bakeries, Entrepreneurs, 
Researchers, Slimming centres, Caterers, Hotels, Govt. 
Organizations, Consumer Organizations etc.

NABL (National Accreditation Board for Testing and 
Calibration Laboratories) ACCREDITED SINCE JUNE 2012 
FOR CHEMICAL TESTING OF FOOD. RECOGNITION FOR 
TECHNICAL EXPERTISE FROM GOVERNMENT OF INDIA.

1. Your responsibility is to create awareness about Fair Business Practices.

2. To motivate Manufactures and Professionals to participate in CFBP Jamnalal Bajaj Awards for Fair Business Practices.

3. To organize various Consumer Education Programmes.

4. To create awareness among people to reach out to the Council for Consumer Grievances.

5. To display the CFBP Certificate prominently in your organization / office.

6. To motivate people to do the testing of their food product at CFBP Ramkrishna Bajaj Testing Centre at S.N.D.T., Juhu.

7. To motivate Schools / College Authorities to organize Consumer Awareness Programmes in the Schools / Colleges.

8. To motivate people to become member and follow the mission of CFBP towards Fair Business Practices.

ROLE OF CFBP MEMBERS

N

N

N

2024-2025

58TH ANNUAL REPORT
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CFBP
MEMBERSHIP POSITION AS ON 31ST MARCH, 2025

The President and the Executive Committee Members place on record its appreciation and gratitude for the valuable contribution of (i) 

Member of the Consumer Grievances Redressal Committee Smt. Asha Idnani (ii) Bajaj Electricals, Godrej, Aditya Birla Group, 

PhillipCapital, HDFC Ltd, Tata Steel, Tata Chemicals, SBI, Bank of Baroda, Mahindra & Mahindra Limited and Samsika Marketing 

Consulting P Ltd., for Advertising support (iii) Janmabhoomi, Mumbai Samachar, Free Press Journal, Afternoon, Economic Times for 

publicity support (iv) Members of Panel of Judges for the Awards Judge B. N. Srikrishna, Former Judge, Supreme Court of India and 

Members of the Awards Committee (v) Past Presidents for their guidance and active support (vi) Members of the Advisory Board, Office 

Bearers, Members of Executive Committee and all Invitees, New Members, and staff of the Council for their sincere work effort during 

the year.

   1. Public Ltd. Cos/ 60 31 — 36 127
 Private Undertaking   

   2. Private Ltd. Cos/ Bussiness 15 45 — 17 77 

   3. Professional Firms/  12 344 56 51 463
 Individuals

   4. Associations / — 45 — 19 64
 Chamber of Commer

 Total 87 465 56 123 731

Pursuant to Section 164 (2)) of the Companies Act, 1956, in relation to Annual Accounts for the year ended 31st 
March 2025 the Managing Committee states that: 

i)  in the preparation of the annual accounts, applicable accounting standards have been followed and there have 
been no material departures; 

ii)  it has selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently, and made judgements and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent, so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Council as at                 
31st March 2024. 

it has taken proper and sufficient care in the maintenance of adequate accounting records, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, for safeguarding the assets of the Council and for preventing and detecting 
fraud and other irregularities; and the annual accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

2024-2025
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WOMEN'S CAREER EXPO @ KOLKATA
Tuesday, 30th April 2024
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SEENAGER QUEEN 2024 - 26TH MAY 2024  
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WEBINAR

20th July, 2024

THE ET 40 UNDER 40
The ET 40 under 40 Awards is one of the flagship Events of the Bennett Coleman Group.  The Trident - Nariman Point was host to 
many a who’s who of the country both as Jury and Audience in addition to some deserving winners!  Pooja Bajaj and Jonty Rhodes 
always good to talk to - especially Jonty on Surya’s catch at the T20 World Cup (which he graciously thought was fair)!  With Mrs. 
Ambani gracing the Jury Chair and Mrs. Rajshree, Kumar, Neerja and Ananya Birla (one of the Awardees), Uday Kotak, Vishal 
Kampani - a Jury Member (who agreed to be a Speaker at one of our future functions) and many others present and knowing about 
CFBP, it was a great evening!!!
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RE-LAUNCH OF THE SOCIETY MAGAZINE

Swapnil Kothari, President CFBP at the re-launch of the Society Magazine. With the 
legendary octogenarian Nari Hira and the talented Manisha Koirala on stage, it was indeed 

a pleasant surprise for me to be invited to share the stage with her.

Setting the tone for a successful Café Pehchaan 
- an interactive meeting with Pooja Bedi
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CAFÉ PEHCHAAN 4.0

1st August, 20241st August, 2024 

CAFÉ PEHCHAAN 4.0

17
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HOLISTIC HEALTH SUMMIT 2.0

10th August, 2024
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LEADERSHIP THEN LEADERSHIP NOW 1.0

@ Taj Lands End, Mumbai - 21st October, 2024



REPUBLIC SUMMIT

Republic Media House, Noida 
12th November, 2024

TIMES GROUP INDIA ASCENDS SUMMIT
Taj Palace, New Delhi - 13th November, 2024

20



Tuesday, 17th December 2024

21

WOMEN EMPOWERMENT SUMMIT - 1.0 



Tuesday, 17th December 2024

WOMEN EMPOWERMENT SUMMIT - 1.0 
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Tuesday, 17th December 2024

WOMEN EMPOWERMENT SUMMIT - 1.0 
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THE ECONOMIC TIMES
30TH DECEMBER, 2024
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ETHICS SEMINAR

26th February, 2025



26th February, 2025

26

ETHICS SEMINAR



8th March, 2025

27

THE ECONOMIC TIMES AWARDS
FOR CORPORATE EXCELLENCE
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Ms. Asha Idnani Chairperson,
Consumer Grievances Redressal Committee

Ms. Kiren Srivastav Co-Chairperson, Programmes Committee
Ms. Payal Kothari Co-Chairperson, Mediation Cell
Mr. Thomas Rego Assessor
Mr. Ramagouda Patil Assessor

Mr. Swapnil Kothari President
Mr. Vineet Bhatnagar Vice President & 

Chairman, Awards Committee
Mr. Shekhar Bajaj Founder Member
Mr. Ashok Bhansali Hon. Treasurer
Mr. Niranjan Jhunjhunwala Hon. Secretary

37TH CFBP JAMNALAL BAJAJ AWARDS
JURY MEETING @ BAJAJ BHAVAN



31st March, 2025

THE ECONOMIC TIMES | PANACHE

29
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Laws too gentle are seldom obeyed; too severe, 
seldom executed – 

Benjamin Franklin

The recent Kolkata-rape is a stark reminder of how 
true this saying by that great Founding Father of the 
United States (and a drafter of its Declaration of 
Independence) holds good even today.  The key 
question is here whether we have a law that is gentle 
or whether it is too harsh that it is 
non-implementable.  We believe the latter.  We will 
attempt to tell you why because the rap from the 
Supreme Court is not unfounded.  The very fact that it 

had to take a suo motu cognizance proves that the 
Kolkata Law and Order machinery is in complete 
disarray.

Administrative Failure Political interference at the 
highest levels, a somnolent police force turning a shut 
eye to a dastardly rampage of the hospital, the 
cosmetic transfer of the Principal, the delayed 
registration of the FIR (how bizarre or perhaps not so), 
the purported polygraph test of some key people – 
are all automatic legal steps but what about the 
identity and the number of accused people.  And 
what about the fakery of the letter to the PM from the 
Chief Minister asking for a more stringent law – how 
jejune!  July 1 saw a complete overhaul of the criminal 
laws and the new ones came into e�ect promising 

safety of women and children.  What we need is an 
administration with spine to ensure that all the 
accused are nabbed, remanded to judicial or police 
custody, interrogated, evidence gathered and safely 
secured and not tampered with and the case be put 
on a fast-track.  Even assuming that it gets an 
expeditious trial, one is looking at a minimum of 
seven – eight years before all the tiers of the 
labyrinthine Court system are exhausted culminating 
into a just result. If the result is death penalty, it then 
gives rise to a Mercy Petition before the President 
where one hopes that it does not languish before the 
curtain is dropped on the sordid saga.  

Non-implementation We will not delve much into 
legalese except to say that every single step right from 
the time that a crime has been committed until the 
trial begins and even the procedure for the evidence 
to be led has been elaborately spelt out in the three 
old laws, and also, the new statutes.  And the Courts 
have been tough enough to �ll in the sometimes 
obvious but more interpretational gaps to ensure that 
not only the criminals are brought to justice, but also, 
the sentences operate as a deterrent.  One of our 
friends – a non-lawyer – asked the other day that if 
this is the case then why is still there no fear of the law 
and crimes are getting more gruesome by the day.  He 
further said with gnashed teeth that castration 
(chemical or otherwise) is absolutely imperative.  To 
his �rst query, we raised the same point – 
implementation!  The wrath of the State High Court or 
the Supreme Court comes much later when the 
Administration has had its way (or perhaps sway) and 
has failed miserably.  Plebeian puissant is what we 
have seen in Kolkata, and across the country, resulting 
in mass awareness brooking some necessary 
measures at least on the safety front.  Are the police 
free to nab the culprits and assuming that they are, do 
they get paid enough to ensure that the trial gets to 
its logical conclusion – it all boils down to the integrity 
of the Investigating O�cer.  A polygraph test of the 
accused Sanjay Roy who has seemingly admitted to 

The paints and coatings industry in India is growing 
rapidly and undergoing several changes 
driven by technological evolutions and 
changing market dynamics. For 
instance, there is a growing usage of 
epoxy and PU-based paints due to their 
effectiveness in preventing surface 
corrosion and easier manageability. 
Similarly, the task of work execution at 
height, including painting, is evolving 
significantly with safer methods like 
rope access replacing traditional tech-
niques. As the industry continues to 
evolve, there are also many challenges 
such as price fluctuations of raw materi-
als, safety and quality assurance considerations, 
technical knowledge of professionals, and timely 
project delivery. Addressing these challenges expert-
ly is Specialty Products and Services (SPS), a leading 
name in the industrial painting and work-at-height 
maintenance industry. Following a multidimensional 
approach focused on ensuring punctual project com-
pletion, comprehensive quality inspections, robust 
technical consulting, and leveraging the ingenious 
high-speed industrial rope access method, the com-
pany assures utmost client satisfaction.
Tech-First Solutions
Identifying as a technolo-
gy-first company, SPS 
utilizes advanced access 
technologies which set it 
apart in the highly com-
petitive painting and 
coatings industry. Lever-
aging technologies like 
IRATA rope access tech-
nology and custom-engi-
neered motorized 
suspended platforms, 
the company is creating 
opportunities for safe 
and efficient work at 
heights and restricted 
spaces. These methods 
also allow swift completion of projects in addition to 
allowing multiple people and payloads to reach 
heights quickly, safely, and efficiently.

“Our solutions and services primarily work at height 
and difficult-to-access areas and 
include industrial painting, civil and 
structural inspection, repair, mainte-
nance and cleaning, and waste energy 
conservation solutions. Our unique 
access technologies, in-house R&D 
edge, and an end-to-end basket of 
high-quality industrial maintenance 
services set us apart. These have 
helped us grow exponentially and 
acquire a premium customer base in a 
short period of time, in a crowded 
market filled by generic service provid-
ers who tend to compete primarily on 

price”, shares Som Sengupta, Director of New Busi-
ness and Innovation.
Committed to innovating unique solutions, the firm 
also utilizes drones and industrial asset crawling 
rovers for condition monitoring and inspections 
including visual inspections, ultrasonic pulse velocity 
tests, and other non-destructive tests. These propri-
etary drones function exceptionally well among ferro-
magnetic interferences and industrial hazards thanks 
to their rugged built and unique fail-safe features. The 
drones also feature HD video, high-resolution imag-
ing, and infrared thermography capabilities to 
conduct visual inspections of tough-to-reach places 
to asses condition and corrosion as well as perform 
ultrasonic thickness measurement of shell thickness.
The company is also responsible for having devel-
oped India’s first and only drone capable of executing 
ultrasonic testing readings at heights up to 100m and 
surface temperatures up to 200 degrees C. SPS has 
achieved another significant feat by being the first 
company to develop a robotic magnetic crawler that 
facilitates external ultrasonic circumferential thick-
ness measurements of industrial pipes and tanks 
with pipe flange crossing capability.
“SPS has achieved remarkable technological 
advancements in the field of Drones and UAVs, 
enabling swift and adaptable positioning at any 
altitude and location. These vehicles offer the advan-
tage of maneuvering within confined spaces, elimi-
nating the necessity for direct human intervention 
and mitigating associated risks. With an in-house 

SOM SENGUPTA
Director - New Business

& Innovation
Specialty Products And Services

GUEST C
OLUMN

REVOLUTIONIZING INDUSTRIAL ASSET 
MAINTENANCE & ENERGY CONSERVATION 

WITH MODERN SOLUTIONSBY IN
VIT

ATIO
N R&D team, SPS prioritizes developing advanced solu-

tions to enhance the speed, efficiency, and safety of 
asset inspections for clients”,  further shares Som 
Sengupta.
However, the commitment to advancement is not 
restricted to techniques 
alone. The firm also focuses 
on materials, using 
graphene-based paint which 
is a nanotechnological addi-
tive known for enhanced 
surface protection. These 
selections are also guided by 
sustainable practices, ensur-
ing that the firm follows stan-
dard procedures designed to 
reduce wastage and improve 
efficiency, uses paints and 
coating produced in line with 
MSDS requirements, and 
implements appropriate 
measures to minimize health 
risks, and contamination risks.
Specialized Services & Solutions
SPS’s comprehensive range of services encompasses 
specialized solutions including dry ice cleaning 
services that are customized for effective contami-
nant elimination from a diverse array of high-value 
industrial assets, waste heat recovery designing and 
implementation solutions that facilitate primary fuel 
savings and CO2 emissions reductions, and inspec-
tion services via varied access options to allow 
preventive maintenance. Ensuring superior outcomes, 
each of these services is meticulously designed and 
delivered by SPS for an enhanced customer experi-
ence.
In the dry ice cleaning services, for instance, SPS 
leverages solid carbon dioxide, which acts as a kinetic 
media, providing a non-toxic and non-flammable 
cleaning experience. This cost-effective manner also 
stands out for its capacity to not generate secondary 
waste, while expertly ridding surfaces of high-value 
assets like turbines, heat exchangers, motors, engine 
blocks, and more, of the toughest contaminants.
Within the realm of its waste heat recovery solutions, 
SPS collaborates with its German partner to offer 
path-breaking thermal energy storage (TES) solutions 
that enable capturing and storing high-grade heat 
derived from industrial processes. The waste heat is 
repurposed to offer a climate-neutral energy source 
that offers diverse applications.
“At SPS, we utilize high thermal capacity materials to 
engineer modular and scalable Green Energy solu-

tions for long life, sustainable, and economical energy 
storage. These solutions are modular and scalable 
with storage capacities from 4 MWh and above, 
provide extremely high energy density of 1.2 MWh/m3, 
are sustainable, utilizing up to 85 percent recycled 

materials, and achieve 
amortization in less than 
2-3 years”, further adds 
Som.
SPS’s repair and mainte-
nance services using rope 
access methodology are 
another specialized area of 
work with the workforce 
seamlessly executing 
repair works and refurbish-
ment projects at any height 
across a range of civil and 
structural maintenance 
jobs including shut-
down-based assignments. 
Skilled at efficiently execut-

ing these projects, the firm prides itself in using 
creative methods that help minimize downtime, 
saving considerable operational costs for clients.
Future Roadmap
Since its inception only seven years ago, SPS has 
grown exponentially presenting a revenue growth at 
CAGR 185 percent and its paint application vertical 
alone contributed 40 percent to it. The company, posi-
tioned as the largest industrial rope access company 
in India, has grown to over 1600 employees in this 
duration and executed over 3 million person-hours of 
work at height. With a pan India presence and a 
diverse client base spread across booming sectors 
including steel, petrochemicals, oil and gas, fertilizers, 
power, and cement, to name a few, the company has 
established itself as a dynamic industry player.
As SPS designs the path for its future endeavors, its 
focus remains on achieving a high growth rate. The 
company is on target to almost double its revenue in 
the current financial year and aims to keep growing at 
a similar rate over the coming years. To realize these 
goals, the company will continue to leverage its 
in-house R&D and tech-powered innovation capabili-
ties. Moreover, the company aims to further expand its 
geographical footprint and capitalize on its other 
service verticals to increase its market share. Guided 
by a well-rounded vision for its future and an inclina-
tion to foster innovation, the firm is poised to achieve 
tremendous growth in the years to come.

• • •

the heinous crime will face a ferocious 
cross-examination as he appears to have 
vacillating statements.  More importantly, is he the 
only perpetrator when there is overwhelming 
evidence to suggest that he could not have been 
alone given the mutilated state of the body.  Why is 
there only one CCTV footage to show that he was 
seen entering the premises – what about other 
footages or have they been blacked out!  To the 
second question about a be�tting punishment like 
castration, I answered that, despite being 
suggested by a Madras High Court Bench 
(speaking through J. Kirubakaran in 2015) that it 
would lead to magical results in relation to child 
rape, it would be in the realm of constitutional 
�agrancy in the sense that it would arguably 
violate Article 21.  Two wrongs can seldom make a 
right!  A rape is gruesome even if there is 
penetration against the will or consent of the 
woman in question. Mere changing the law is no 
answer.  What is required is a change in the mindset 
at all levels – of men in society, and of those 
entrusted with implementing the law.  It does not 
have to be barbaric like the Kolkata case to invite 
the punishment of castration. What is needed is 
honest implementation of the extant laws 
timeously and impartially.  

Criminal Law Amendments The criminal law 
amendment in 2013 included acid attacks, 
voyeurism and sexual harassment in the then 
Indian Penal Code, whereas the criminal law 
amendment in 2018 extended the minimum 
punishment for rape from seven to ten years and 
for twenty years extendable up to life 
imprisonment or death for rape and gangrape 
below the age of 12 years.  It is very clear that the 
July 1 overhaul of the criminal laws hasn’t had a 
deterrent e�ect.  This Retributive Theory of 
Criminal Justice does have its place besides a 
Reformative Theory (which the Human Rights 
Activists spew out galore).  We believe that a 
Preventive Theory needs to gain momentum 
where besides isolated or lonely spots being 
well-lit or street marshals being present in 
trouble-prone areas, the sensitization of the police 
is a key component.  

Global Reports In India, the National Crime 

Records Bureau reported that in 2022 over 4,00,000 
cases of crimes against women were registered 
showing a 4% increase from the past year.  World 
statistics say that in countries (including the US) 
with information on rape, less than 40% seek help 
and less than 10% seek police assistance.  Acquittal 
ensues.  The US has a fairly brisk Court System in 
terms of disposal but is no better than India 
because only 9% face trial from which only 3% go 
to jail with the remaining 97% free out there to 
commit another o�ence.  This smacks of nothing 
but law enforcement apathy where even in the 
most advanced countries women �ght shy to come 
forward.  

International Law International Law broadly has 
Convention On the Elimination of All Forms of 
Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), which 
was adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1979 
popularly known as an International Bill of Women 
Rights.  India signed it in 1980 and rati�ed it in 1993 
and successive governments have endeavoured to 
push forth Women Empowerment but more needs 
to be done.  The Convention on the Prevention and 
Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (Genocide 
Convention) adopted in 1948 was a notable 
response to the atrocities of World War II.  Any 
practicing international lawyer will tell you that 
genocide has come to include rapes within its fold 
– it is jus cogens – a peremptory norm that trumps 
other norms.  

 To conclude, it is all very jingoistic to suggest 
imposition of President’s Rule in West Bengal but 
that won’t help.  The problem does not lie only at 
the top of the ladder but in the inhuman 
administration devoid of any sensitivity that is so 
very much required in cases of this nature.  A 
chequered path to justice with all the ignominies 
littered along the path is what the victim’s family is 
facing.  Until the administration does get 
sensitised, what is required is a Court-monitored 
investigation right up to the stage of judgement 
(conviction and sentencing) so that Justice does 
not remain a cloistered virtue for the privileged or a 
teasing illusion for the common man.  The more it 
becomes inaccessible, the less stable our 
democracy becomes; respect for the Rule of Law is 
not only for the unhungry stomach and an 
untortured soul.   
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Laws too gentle are seldom obeyed; too severe, 
seldom executed – 

Benjamin Franklin

The recent Kolkata-rape is a stark reminder of how 
true this saying by that great Founding Father of the 
United States (and a drafter of its Declaration of 
Independence) holds good even today.  The key 
question is here whether we have a law that is gentle 
or whether it is too harsh that it is 
non-implementable.  We believe the latter.  We will 
attempt to tell you why because the rap from the 
Supreme Court is not unfounded.  The very fact that it 

had to take a suo motu cognizance proves that the 
Kolkata Law and Order machinery is in complete 
disarray.

Administrative Failure Political interference at the 
highest levels, a somnolent police force turning a shut 
eye to a dastardly rampage of the hospital, the 
cosmetic transfer of the Principal, the delayed 
registration of the FIR (how bizarre or perhaps not so), 
the purported polygraph test of some key people – 
are all automatic legal steps but what about the 
identity and the number of accused people.  And 
what about the fakery of the letter to the PM from the 
Chief Minister asking for a more stringent law – how 
jejune!  July 1 saw a complete overhaul of the criminal 
laws and the new ones came into e�ect promising 

safety of women and children.  What we need is an 
administration with spine to ensure that all the 
accused are nabbed, remanded to judicial or police 
custody, interrogated, evidence gathered and safely 
secured and not tampered with and the case be put 
on a fast-track.  Even assuming that it gets an 
expeditious trial, one is looking at a minimum of 
seven – eight years before all the tiers of the 
labyrinthine Court system are exhausted culminating 
into a just result. If the result is death penalty, it then 
gives rise to a Mercy Petition before the President 
where one hopes that it does not languish before the 
curtain is dropped on the sordid saga.  

Non-implementation We will not delve much into 
legalese except to say that every single step right from 
the time that a crime has been committed until the 
trial begins and even the procedure for the evidence 
to be led has been elaborately spelt out in the three 
old laws, and also, the new statutes.  And the Courts 
have been tough enough to �ll in the sometimes 
obvious but more interpretational gaps to ensure that 
not only the criminals are brought to justice, but also, 
the sentences operate as a deterrent.  One of our 
friends – a non-lawyer – asked the other day that if 
this is the case then why is still there no fear of the law 
and crimes are getting more gruesome by the day.  He 
further said with gnashed teeth that castration 
(chemical or otherwise) is absolutely imperative.  To 
his �rst query, we raised the same point – 
implementation!  The wrath of the State High Court or 
the Supreme Court comes much later when the 
Administration has had its way (or perhaps sway) and 
has failed miserably.  Plebeian puissant is what we 
have seen in Kolkata, and across the country, resulting 
in mass awareness brooking some necessary 
measures at least on the safety front.  Are the police 
free to nab the culprits and assuming that they are, do 
they get paid enough to ensure that the trial gets to 
its logical conclusion – it all boils down to the integrity 
of the Investigating O�cer.  A polygraph test of the 
accused Sanjay Roy who has seemingly admitted to 

The paints and coatings industry in India is growing 
rapidly and undergoing several changes 
driven by technological evolutions and 
changing market dynamics. For 
instance, there is a growing usage of 
epoxy and PU-based paints due to their 
effectiveness in preventing surface 
corrosion and easier manageability. 
Similarly, the task of work execution at 
height, including painting, is evolving 
significantly with safer methods like 
rope access replacing traditional tech-
niques. As the industry continues to 
evolve, there are also many challenges 
such as price fluctuations of raw materi-
als, safety and quality assurance considerations, 
technical knowledge of professionals, and timely 
project delivery. Addressing these challenges expert-
ly is Specialty Products and Services (SPS), a leading 
name in the industrial painting and work-at-height 
maintenance industry. Following a multidimensional 
approach focused on ensuring punctual project com-
pletion, comprehensive quality inspections, robust 
technical consulting, and leveraging the ingenious 
high-speed industrial rope access method, the com-
pany assures utmost client satisfaction.
Tech-First Solutions
Identifying as a technolo-
gy-first company, SPS 
utilizes advanced access 
technologies which set it 
apart in the highly com-
petitive painting and 
coatings industry. Lever-
aging technologies like 
IRATA rope access tech-
nology and custom-engi-
neered motorized 
suspended platforms, 
the company is creating 
opportunities for safe 
and efficient work at 
heights and restricted 
spaces. These methods 
also allow swift completion of projects in addition to 
allowing multiple people and payloads to reach 
heights quickly, safely, and efficiently.

“Our solutions and services primarily work at height 
and difficult-to-access areas and 
include industrial painting, civil and 
structural inspection, repair, mainte-
nance and cleaning, and waste energy 
conservation solutions. Our unique 
access technologies, in-house R&D 
edge, and an end-to-end basket of 
high-quality industrial maintenance 
services set us apart. These have 
helped us grow exponentially and 
acquire a premium customer base in a 
short period of time, in a crowded 
market filled by generic service provid-
ers who tend to compete primarily on 

price”, shares Som Sengupta, Director of New Busi-
ness and Innovation.
Committed to innovating unique solutions, the firm 
also utilizes drones and industrial asset crawling 
rovers for condition monitoring and inspections 
including visual inspections, ultrasonic pulse velocity 
tests, and other non-destructive tests. These propri-
etary drones function exceptionally well among ferro-
magnetic interferences and industrial hazards thanks 
to their rugged built and unique fail-safe features. The 
drones also feature HD video, high-resolution imag-
ing, and infrared thermography capabilities to 
conduct visual inspections of tough-to-reach places 
to asses condition and corrosion as well as perform 
ultrasonic thickness measurement of shell thickness.
The company is also responsible for having devel-
oped India’s first and only drone capable of executing 
ultrasonic testing readings at heights up to 100m and 
surface temperatures up to 200 degrees C. SPS has 
achieved another significant feat by being the first 
company to develop a robotic magnetic crawler that 
facilitates external ultrasonic circumferential thick-
ness measurements of industrial pipes and tanks 
with pipe flange crossing capability.
“SPS has achieved remarkable technological 
advancements in the field of Drones and UAVs, 
enabling swift and adaptable positioning at any 
altitude and location. These vehicles offer the advan-
tage of maneuvering within confined spaces, elimi-
nating the necessity for direct human intervention 
and mitigating associated risks. With an in-house 

R&D team, SPS prioritizes developing advanced solu-
tions to enhance the speed, efficiency, and safety of 
asset inspections for clients”,  further shares Som 
Sengupta.
However, the commitment to advancement is not 
restricted to techniques 
alone. The firm also focuses 
on materials, using 
graphene-based paint which 
is a nanotechnological addi-
tive known for enhanced 
surface protection. These 
selections are also guided by 
sustainable practices, ensur-
ing that the firm follows stan-
dard procedures designed to 
reduce wastage and improve 
efficiency, uses paints and 
coating produced in line with 
MSDS requirements, and 
implements appropriate 
measures to minimize health 
risks, and contamination risks.
Specialized Services & Solutions
SPS’s comprehensive range of services encompasses 
specialized solutions including dry ice cleaning 
services that are customized for effective contami-
nant elimination from a diverse array of high-value 
industrial assets, waste heat recovery designing and 
implementation solutions that facilitate primary fuel 
savings and CO2 emissions reductions, and inspec-
tion services via varied access options to allow 
preventive maintenance. Ensuring superior outcomes, 
each of these services is meticulously designed and 
delivered by SPS for an enhanced customer experi-
ence.
In the dry ice cleaning services, for instance, SPS 
leverages solid carbon dioxide, which acts as a kinetic 
media, providing a non-toxic and non-flammable 
cleaning experience. This cost-effective manner also 
stands out for its capacity to not generate secondary 
waste, while expertly ridding surfaces of high-value 
assets like turbines, heat exchangers, motors, engine 
blocks, and more, of the toughest contaminants.
Within the realm of its waste heat recovery solutions, 
SPS collaborates with its German partner to offer 
path-breaking thermal energy storage (TES) solutions 
that enable capturing and storing high-grade heat 
derived from industrial processes. The waste heat is 
repurposed to offer a climate-neutral energy source 
that offers diverse applications.
“At SPS, we utilize high thermal capacity materials to 
engineer modular and scalable Green Energy solu-

tions for long life, sustainable, and economical energy 
storage. These solutions are modular and scalable 
with storage capacities from 4 MWh and above, 
provide extremely high energy density of 1.2 MWh/m3, 
are sustainable, utilizing up to 85 percent recycled 

materials, and achieve 
amortization in less than 
2-3 years”, further adds 
Som.
SPS’s repair and mainte-
nance services using rope 
access methodology are 
another specialized area of 
work with the workforce 
seamlessly executing 
repair works and refurbish-
ment projects at any height 
across a range of civil and 
structural maintenance 
jobs including shut-
down-based assignments. 
Skilled at efficiently execut-

ing these projects, the firm prides itself in using 
creative methods that help minimize downtime, 
saving considerable operational costs for clients.
Future Roadmap
Since its inception only seven years ago, SPS has 
grown exponentially presenting a revenue growth at 
CAGR 185 percent and its paint application vertical 
alone contributed 40 percent to it. The company, posi-
tioned as the largest industrial rope access company 
in India, has grown to over 1600 employees in this 
duration and executed over 3 million person-hours of 
work at height. With a pan India presence and a 
diverse client base spread across booming sectors 
including steel, petrochemicals, oil and gas, fertilizers, 
power, and cement, to name a few, the company has 
established itself as a dynamic industry player.
As SPS designs the path for its future endeavors, its 
focus remains on achieving a high growth rate. The 
company is on target to almost double its revenue in 
the current financial year and aims to keep growing at 
a similar rate over the coming years. To realize these 
goals, the company will continue to leverage its 
in-house R&D and tech-powered innovation capabili-
ties. Moreover, the company aims to further expand its 
geographical footprint and capitalize on its other 
service verticals to increase its market share. Guided 
by a well-rounded vision for its future and an inclina-
tion to foster innovation, the firm is poised to achieve 
tremendous growth in the years to come.

• • •

the heinous crime will face a ferocious 
cross-examination as he appears to have 
vacillating statements.  More importantly, is he the 
only perpetrator when there is overwhelming 
evidence to suggest that he could not have been 
alone given the mutilated state of the body.  Why is 
there only one CCTV footage to show that he was 
seen entering the premises – what about other 
footages or have they been blacked out!  To the 
second question about a be�tting punishment like 
castration, I answered that, despite being 
suggested by a Madras High Court Bench 
(speaking through J. Kirubakaran in 2015) that it 
would lead to magical results in relation to child 
rape, it would be in the realm of constitutional 
�agrancy in the sense that it would arguably 
violate Article 21.  Two wrongs can seldom make a 
right!  A rape is gruesome even if there is 
penetration against the will or consent of the 
woman in question. Mere changing the law is no 
answer.  What is required is a change in the mindset 
at all levels – of men in society, and of those 
entrusted with implementing the law.  It does not 
have to be barbaric like the Kolkata case to invite 
the punishment of castration. What is needed is 
honest implementation of the extant laws 
timeously and impartially.  

Criminal Law Amendments The criminal law 
amendment in 2013 included acid attacks, 
voyeurism and sexual harassment in the then 
Indian Penal Code, whereas the criminal law 
amendment in 2018 extended the minimum 
punishment for rape from seven to ten years and 
for twenty years extendable up to life 
imprisonment or death for rape and gangrape 
below the age of 12 years.  It is very clear that the 
July 1 overhaul of the criminal laws hasn’t had a 
deterrent e�ect.  This Retributive Theory of 
Criminal Justice does have its place besides a 
Reformative Theory (which the Human Rights 
Activists spew out galore).  We believe that a 
Preventive Theory needs to gain momentum 
where besides isolated or lonely spots being 
well-lit or street marshals being present in 
trouble-prone areas, the sensitization of the police 
is a key component.  

Global Reports In India, the National Crime 

Records Bureau reported that in 2022 over 4,00,000 
cases of crimes against women were registered 
showing a 4% increase from the past year.  World 
statistics say that in countries (including the US) 
with information on rape, less than 40% seek help 
and less than 10% seek police assistance.  Acquittal 
ensues.  The US has a fairly brisk Court System in 
terms of disposal but is no better than India 
because only 9% face trial from which only 3% go 
to jail with the remaining 97% free out there to 
commit another o�ence.  This smacks of nothing 
but law enforcement apathy where even in the 
most advanced countries women �ght shy to come 
forward.  

International Law International Law broadly has 
Convention On the Elimination of All Forms of 
Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), which 
was adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1979 
popularly known as an International Bill of Women 
Rights.  India signed it in 1980 and rati�ed it in 1993 
and successive governments have endeavoured to 
push forth Women Empowerment but more needs 
to be done.  The Convention on the Prevention and 
Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (Genocide 
Convention) adopted in 1948 was a notable 
response to the atrocities of World War II.  Any 
practicing international lawyer will tell you that 
genocide has come to include rapes within its fold 
– it is jus cogens – a peremptory norm that trumps 
other norms.  

 To conclude, it is all very jingoistic to suggest 
imposition of President’s Rule in West Bengal but 
that won’t help.  The problem does not lie only at 
the top of the ladder but in the inhuman 
administration devoid of any sensitivity that is so 
very much required in cases of this nature.  A 
chequered path to justice with all the ignominies 
littered along the path is what the victim’s family is 
facing.  Until the administration does get 
sensitised, what is required is a Court-monitored 
investigation right up to the stage of judgement 
(conviction and sentencing) so that Justice does 
not remain a cloistered virtue for the privileged or a 
teasing illusion for the common man.  The more it 
becomes inaccessible, the less stable our 
democracy becomes; respect for the Rule of Law is 
not only for the unhungry stomach and an 
untortured soul.   
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Laws too gentle are seldom obeyed; too severe, 
seldom executed – 

Benjamin Franklin

The recent Kolkata-rape is a stark reminder of how 
true this saying by that great Founding Father of the 
United States (and a drafter of its Declaration of 
Independence) holds good even today.  The key 
question is here whether we have a law that is gentle 
or whether it is too harsh that it is 
non-implementable.  We believe the latter.  We will 
attempt to tell you why because the rap from the 
Supreme Court is not unfounded.  The very fact that it 

had to take a suo motu cognizance proves that the 
Kolkata Law and Order machinery is in complete 
disarray.

Administrative Failure Political interference at the 
highest levels, a somnolent police force turning a shut 
eye to a dastardly rampage of the hospital, the 
cosmetic transfer of the Principal, the delayed 
registration of the FIR (how bizarre or perhaps not so), 
the purported polygraph test of some key people – 
are all automatic legal steps but what about the 
identity and the number of accused people.  And 
what about the fakery of the letter to the PM from the 
Chief Minister asking for a more stringent law – how 
jejune!  July 1 saw a complete overhaul of the criminal 
laws and the new ones came into e�ect promising 

safety of women and children.  What we need is an 
administration with spine to ensure that all the 
accused are nabbed, remanded to judicial or police 
custody, interrogated, evidence gathered and safely 
secured and not tampered with and the case be put 
on a fast-track.  Even assuming that it gets an 
expeditious trial, one is looking at a minimum of 
seven – eight years before all the tiers of the 
labyrinthine Court system are exhausted culminating 
into a just result. If the result is death penalty, it then 
gives rise to a Mercy Petition before the President 
where one hopes that it does not languish before the 
curtain is dropped on the sordid saga.  

Non-implementation We will not delve much into 
legalese except to say that every single step right from 
the time that a crime has been committed until the 
trial begins and even the procedure for the evidence 
to be led has been elaborately spelt out in the three 
old laws, and also, the new statutes.  And the Courts 
have been tough enough to �ll in the sometimes 
obvious but more interpretational gaps to ensure that 
not only the criminals are brought to justice, but also, 
the sentences operate as a deterrent.  One of our 
friends – a non-lawyer – asked the other day that if 
this is the case then why is still there no fear of the law 
and crimes are getting more gruesome by the day.  He 
further said with gnashed teeth that castration 
(chemical or otherwise) is absolutely imperative.  To 
his �rst query, we raised the same point – 
implementation!  The wrath of the State High Court or 
the Supreme Court comes much later when the 
Administration has had its way (or perhaps sway) and 
has failed miserably.  Plebeian puissant is what we 
have seen in Kolkata, and across the country, resulting 
in mass awareness brooking some necessary 
measures at least on the safety front.  Are the police 
free to nab the culprits and assuming that they are, do 
they get paid enough to ensure that the trial gets to 
its logical conclusion – it all boils down to the integrity 
of the Investigating O�cer.  A polygraph test of the 
accused Sanjay Roy who has seemingly admitted to 
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the heinous crime will face a ferocious 
cross-examination as he appears to have 
vacillating statements.  More importantly, is he the 
only perpetrator when there is overwhelming 
evidence to suggest that he could not have been 
alone given the mutilated state of the body.  Why is 
there only one CCTV footage to show that he was 
seen entering the premises – what about other 
footages or have they been blacked out!  To the 
second question about a be�tting punishment like 
castration, I answered that, despite being 
suggested by a Madras High Court Bench 
(speaking through J. Kirubakaran in 2015) that it 
would lead to magical results in relation to child 
rape, it would be in the realm of constitutional 
�agrancy in the sense that it would arguably 
violate Article 21.  Two wrongs can seldom make a 
right!  A rape is gruesome even if there is 
penetration against the will or consent of the 
woman in question. Mere changing the law is no 
answer.  What is required is a change in the mindset 
at all levels – of men in society, and of those 
entrusted with implementing the law.  It does not 
have to be barbaric like the Kolkata case to invite 
the punishment of castration. What is needed is 
honest implementation of the extant laws 
timeously and impartially.  

Criminal Law Amendments The criminal law 
amendment in 2013 included acid attacks, 
voyeurism and sexual harassment in the then 
Indian Penal Code, whereas the criminal law 
amendment in 2018 extended the minimum 
punishment for rape from seven to ten years and 
for twenty years extendable up to life 
imprisonment or death for rape and gangrape 
below the age of 12 years.  It is very clear that the 
July 1 overhaul of the criminal laws hasn’t had a 
deterrent e�ect.  This Retributive Theory of 
Criminal Justice does have its place besides a 
Reformative Theory (which the Human Rights 
Activists spew out galore).  We believe that a 
Preventive Theory needs to gain momentum 
where besides isolated or lonely spots being 
well-lit or street marshals being present in 
trouble-prone areas, the sensitization of the police 
is a key component.  

Global Reports In India, the National Crime 

Records Bureau reported that in 2022 over 4,00,000 
cases of crimes against women were registered 
showing a 4% increase from the past year.  World 
statistics say that in countries (including the US) 
with information on rape, less than 40% seek help 
and less than 10% seek police assistance.  Acquittal 
ensues.  The US has a fairly brisk Court System in 
terms of disposal but is no better than India 
because only 9% face trial from which only 3% go 
to jail with the remaining 97% free out there to 
commit another o�ence.  This smacks of nothing 
but law enforcement apathy where even in the 
most advanced countries women �ght shy to come 
forward.  

International Law International Law broadly has 
Convention On the Elimination of All Forms of 
Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), which 
was adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1979 
popularly known as an International Bill of Women 
Rights.  India signed it in 1980 and rati�ed it in 1993 
and successive governments have endeavoured to 
push forth Women Empowerment but more needs 
to be done.  The Convention on the Prevention and 
Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (Genocide 
Convention) adopted in 1948 was a notable 
response to the atrocities of World War II.  Any 
practicing international lawyer will tell you that 
genocide has come to include rapes within its fold 
– it is jus cogens – a peremptory norm that trumps 
other norms.  

 To conclude, it is all very jingoistic to suggest 
imposition of President’s Rule in West Bengal but 
that won’t help.  The problem does not lie only at 
the top of the ladder but in the inhuman 
administration devoid of any sensitivity that is so 
very much required in cases of this nature.  A 
chequered path to justice with all the ignominies 
littered along the path is what the victim’s family is 
facing.  Until the administration does get 
sensitised, what is required is a Court-monitored 
investigation right up to the stage of judgement 
(conviction and sentencing) so that Justice does 
not remain a cloistered virtue for the privileged or a 
teasing illusion for the common man.  The more it 
becomes inaccessible, the less stable our 
democracy becomes; respect for the Rule of Law is 
not only for the unhungry stomach and an 
untortured soul.   
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Laws too gentle are seldom obeyed; too severe, 
seldom executed – 

Benjamin Franklin

The recent Kolkata-rape is a stark reminder of how 
true this saying by that great Founding Father of the 
United States (and a drafter of its Declaration of 
Independence) holds good even today.  The key 
question is here whether we have a law that is gentle 
or whether it is too harsh that it is 
non-implementable.  We believe the latter.  We will 
attempt to tell you why because the rap from the 
Supreme Court is not unfounded.  The very fact that it 

had to take a suo motu cognizance proves that the 
Kolkata Law and Order machinery is in complete 
disarray.

Administrative Failure Political interference at the 
highest levels, a somnolent police force turning a shut 
eye to a dastardly rampage of the hospital, the 
cosmetic transfer of the Principal, the delayed 
registration of the FIR (how bizarre or perhaps not so), 
the purported polygraph test of some key people – 
are all automatic legal steps but what about the 
identity and the number of accused people.  And 
what about the fakery of the letter to the PM from the 
Chief Minister asking for a more stringent law – how 
jejune!  July 1 saw a complete overhaul of the criminal 
laws and the new ones came into e�ect promising 

safety of women and children.  What we need is an 
administration with spine to ensure that all the 
accused are nabbed, remanded to judicial or police 
custody, interrogated, evidence gathered and safely 
secured and not tampered with and the case be put 
on a fast-track.  Even assuming that it gets an 
expeditious trial, one is looking at a minimum of 
seven – eight years before all the tiers of the 
labyrinthine Court system are exhausted culminating 
into a just result. If the result is death penalty, it then 
gives rise to a Mercy Petition before the President 
where one hopes that it does not languish before the 
curtain is dropped on the sordid saga.  

Non-implementation We will not delve much into 
legalese except to say that every single step right from 
the time that a crime has been committed until the 
trial begins and even the procedure for the evidence 
to be led has been elaborately spelt out in the three 
old laws, and also, the new statutes.  And the Courts 
have been tough enough to �ll in the sometimes 
obvious but more interpretational gaps to ensure that 
not only the criminals are brought to justice, but also, 
the sentences operate as a deterrent.  One of our 
friends – a non-lawyer – asked the other day that if 
this is the case then why is still there no fear of the law 
and crimes are getting more gruesome by the day.  He 
further said with gnashed teeth that castration 
(chemical or otherwise) is absolutely imperative.  To 
his �rst query, we raised the same point – 
implementation!  The wrath of the State High Court or 
the Supreme Court comes much later when the 
Administration has had its way (or perhaps sway) and 
has failed miserably.  Plebeian puissant is what we 
have seen in Kolkata, and across the country, resulting 
in mass awareness brooking some necessary 
measures at least on the safety front.  Are the police 
free to nab the culprits and assuming that they are, do 
they get paid enough to ensure that the trial gets to 
its logical conclusion – it all boils down to the integrity 
of the Investigating O�cer.  A polygraph test of the 
accused Sanjay Roy who has seemingly admitted to 

the heinous crime will face a ferocious 
cross-examination as he appears to have 
vacillating statements.  More importantly, is he the 
only perpetrator when there is overwhelming 
evidence to suggest that he could not have been 
alone given the mutilated state of the body.  Why is 
there only one CCTV footage to show that he was 
seen entering the premises – what about other 
footages or have they been blacked out!  To the 
second question about a be�tting punishment like 
castration, I answered that, despite being 
suggested by a Madras High Court Bench 
(speaking through J. Kirubakaran in 2015) that it 
would lead to magical results in relation to child 
rape, it would be in the realm of constitutional 
�agrancy in the sense that it would arguably 
violate Article 21.  Two wrongs can seldom make a 
right!  A rape is gruesome even if there is 
penetration against the will or consent of the 
woman in question. Mere changing the law is no 
answer.  What is required is a change in the mindset 
at all levels – of men in society, and of those 
entrusted with implementing the law.  It does not 
have to be barbaric like the Kolkata case to invite 
the punishment of castration. What is needed is 
honest implementation of the extant laws 
timeously and impartially.  

Criminal Law Amendments The criminal law 
amendment in 2013 included acid attacks, 
voyeurism and sexual harassment in the then 
Indian Penal Code, whereas the criminal law 
amendment in 2018 extended the minimum 
punishment for rape from seven to ten years and 
for twenty years extendable up to life 
imprisonment or death for rape and gangrape 
below the age of 12 years.  It is very clear that the 
July 1 overhaul of the criminal laws hasn’t had a 
deterrent e�ect.  This Retributive Theory of 
Criminal Justice does have its place besides a 
Reformative Theory (which the Human Rights 
Activists spew out galore).  We believe that a 
Preventive Theory needs to gain momentum 
where besides isolated or lonely spots being 
well-lit or street marshals being present in 
trouble-prone areas, the sensitization of the police 
is a key component.  

Global Reports In India, the National Crime 

Records Bureau reported that in 2022 over 4,00,000 
cases of crimes against women were registered 
showing a 4% increase from the past year.  World 
statistics say that in countries (including the US) 
with information on rape, less than 40% seek help 
and less than 10% seek police assistance.  Acquittal 
ensues.  The US has a fairly brisk Court System in 
terms of disposal but is no better than India 
because only 9% face trial from which only 3% go 
to jail with the remaining 97% free out there to 
commit another o�ence.  This smacks of nothing 
but law enforcement apathy where even in the 
most advanced countries women �ght shy to come 
forward.  

International Law International Law broadly has 
Convention On the Elimination of All Forms of 
Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), which 
was adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1979 
popularly known as an International Bill of Women 
Rights.  India signed it in 1980 and rati�ed it in 1993 
and successive governments have endeavoured to 
push forth Women Empowerment but more needs 
to be done.  The Convention on the Prevention and 
Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (Genocide 
Convention) adopted in 1948 was a notable 
response to the atrocities of World War II.  Any 
practicing international lawyer will tell you that 
genocide has come to include rapes within its fold 
– it is jus cogens – a peremptory norm that trumps 
other norms.  

 To conclude, it is all very jingoistic to suggest 
imposition of President’s Rule in West Bengal but 
that won’t help.  The problem does not lie only at 
the top of the ladder but in the inhuman 
administration devoid of any sensitivity that is so 
very much required in cases of this nature.  A 
chequered path to justice with all the ignominies 
littered along the path is what the victim’s family is 
facing.  Until the administration does get 
sensitised, what is required is a Court-monitored 
investigation right up to the stage of judgement 
(conviction and sentencing) so that Justice does 
not remain a cloistered virtue for the privileged or a 
teasing illusion for the common man.  The more it 
becomes inaccessible, the less stable our 
democracy becomes; respect for the Rule of Law is 
not only for the unhungry stomach and an 
untortured soul.   
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Laws too gentle are seldom obeyed; too severe, 
seldom executed – 

Benjamin Franklin

The recent Kolkata-rape is a stark reminder of how 
true this saying by that great Founding Father of the 
United States (and a drafter of its Declaration of 
Independence) holds good even today.  The key 
question is here whether we have a law that is gentle 
or whether it is too harsh that it is 
non-implementable.  We believe the latter.  We will 
attempt to tell you why because the rap from the 
Supreme Court is not unfounded.  The very fact that it 

had to take a suo motu cognizance proves that the 
Kolkata Law and Order machinery is in complete 
disarray.

Administrative Failure Political interference at the 
highest levels, a somnolent police force turning a shut 
eye to a dastardly rampage of the hospital, the 
cosmetic transfer of the Principal, the delayed 
registration of the FIR (how bizarre or perhaps not so), 
the purported polygraph test of some key people – 
are all automatic legal steps but what about the 
identity and the number of accused people.  And 
what about the fakery of the letter to the PM from the 
Chief Minister asking for a more stringent law – how 
jejune!  July 1 saw a complete overhaul of the criminal 
laws and the new ones came into e�ect promising 

safety of women and children.  What we need is an 
administration with spine to ensure that all the 
accused are nabbed, remanded to judicial or police 
custody, interrogated, evidence gathered and safely 
secured and not tampered with and the case be put 
on a fast-track.  Even assuming that it gets an 
expeditious trial, one is looking at a minimum of 
seven – eight years before all the tiers of the 
labyrinthine Court system are exhausted culminating 
into a just result. If the result is death penalty, it then 
gives rise to a Mercy Petition before the President 
where one hopes that it does not languish before the 
curtain is dropped on the sordid saga.  

Non-implementation We will not delve much into 
legalese except to say that every single step right from 
the time that a crime has been committed until the 
trial begins and even the procedure for the evidence 
to be led has been elaborately spelt out in the three 
old laws, and also, the new statutes.  And the Courts 
have been tough enough to �ll in the sometimes 
obvious but more interpretational gaps to ensure that 
not only the criminals are brought to justice, but also, 
the sentences operate as a deterrent.  One of our 
friends – a non-lawyer – asked the other day that if 
this is the case then why is still there no fear of the law 
and crimes are getting more gruesome by the day.  He 
further said with gnashed teeth that castration 
(chemical or otherwise) is absolutely imperative.  To 
his �rst query, we raised the same point – 
implementation!  The wrath of the State High Court or 
the Supreme Court comes much later when the 
Administration has had its way (or perhaps sway) and 
has failed miserably.  Plebeian puissant is what we 
have seen in Kolkata, and across the country, resulting 
in mass awareness brooking some necessary 
measures at least on the safety front.  Are the police 
free to nab the culprits and assuming that they are, do 
they get paid enough to ensure that the trial gets to 
its logical conclusion – it all boils down to the integrity 
of the Investigating O�cer.  A polygraph test of the 
accused Sanjay Roy who has seemingly admitted to 
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the heinous crime will face a ferocious 
cross-examination as he appears to have 
vacillating statements.  More importantly, is he the 
only perpetrator when there is overwhelming 
evidence to suggest that he could not have been 
alone given the mutilated state of the body.  Why is 
there only one CCTV footage to show that he was 
seen entering the premises – what about other 
footages or have they been blacked out!  To the 
second question about a be�tting punishment like 
castration, I answered that, despite being 
suggested by a Madras High Court Bench 
(speaking through J. Kirubakaran in 2015) that it 
would lead to magical results in relation to child 
rape, it would be in the realm of constitutional 
�agrancy in the sense that it would arguably 
violate Article 21.  Two wrongs can seldom make a 
right!  A rape is gruesome even if there is 
penetration against the will or consent of the 
woman in question. Mere changing the law is no 
answer.  What is required is a change in the mindset 
at all levels – of men in society, and of those 
entrusted with implementing the law.  It does not 
have to be barbaric like the Kolkata case to invite 
the punishment of castration. What is needed is 
honest implementation of the extant laws 
timeously and impartially.  

Criminal Law Amendments The criminal law 
amendment in 2013 included acid attacks, 
voyeurism and sexual harassment in the then 
Indian Penal Code, whereas the criminal law 
amendment in 2018 extended the minimum 
punishment for rape from seven to ten years and 
for twenty years extendable up to life 
imprisonment or death for rape and gangrape 
below the age of 12 years.  It is very clear that the 
July 1 overhaul of the criminal laws hasn’t had a 
deterrent e�ect.  This Retributive Theory of 
Criminal Justice does have its place besides a 
Reformative Theory (which the Human Rights 
Activists spew out galore).  We believe that a 
Preventive Theory needs to gain momentum 
where besides isolated or lonely spots being 
well-lit or street marshals being present in 
trouble-prone areas, the sensitization of the police 
is a key component.  

Global Reports In India, the National Crime 

Records Bureau reported that in 2022 over 4,00,000 
cases of crimes against women were registered 
showing a 4% increase from the past year.  World 
statistics say that in countries (including the US) 
with information on rape, less than 40% seek help 
and less than 10% seek police assistance.  Acquittal 
ensues.  The US has a fairly brisk Court System in 
terms of disposal but is no better than India 
because only 9% face trial from which only 3% go 
to jail with the remaining 97% free out there to 
commit another o�ence.  This smacks of nothing 
but law enforcement apathy where even in the 
most advanced countries women �ght shy to come 
forward.  

International Law International Law broadly has 
Convention On the Elimination of All Forms of 
Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), which 
was adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1979 
popularly known as an International Bill of Women 
Rights.  India signed it in 1980 and rati�ed it in 1993 
and successive governments have endeavoured to 
push forth Women Empowerment but more needs 
to be done.  The Convention on the Prevention and 
Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (Genocide 
Convention) adopted in 1948 was a notable 
response to the atrocities of World War II.  Any 
practicing international lawyer will tell you that 
genocide has come to include rapes within its fold 
– it is jus cogens – a peremptory norm that trumps 
other norms.  

 To conclude, it is all very jingoistic to suggest 
imposition of President’s Rule in West Bengal but 
that won’t help.  The problem does not lie only at 
the top of the ladder but in the inhuman 
administration devoid of any sensitivity that is so 
very much required in cases of this nature.  A 
chequered path to justice with all the ignominies 
littered along the path is what the victim’s family is 
facing.  Until the administration does get 
sensitised, what is required is a Court-monitored 
investigation right up to the stage of judgement 
(conviction and sentencing) so that Justice does 
not remain a cloistered virtue for the privileged or a 
teasing illusion for the common man.  The more it 
becomes inaccessible, the less stable our 
democracy becomes; respect for the Rule of Law is 
not only for the unhungry stomach and an 
untortured soul.   
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Laws too gentle are seldom obeyed; too severe, 
seldom executed – 

Benjamin Franklin

The recent Kolkata-rape is a stark reminder of how 
true this saying by that great Founding Father of the 
United States (and a drafter of its Declaration of 
Independence) holds good even today.  The key 
question is here whether we have a law that is gentle 
or whether it is too harsh that it is 
non-implementable.  We believe the latter.  We will 
attempt to tell you why because the rap from the 
Supreme Court is not unfounded.  The very fact that it 

had to take a suo motu cognizance proves that the 
Kolkata Law and Order machinery is in complete 
disarray.

Administrative Failure Political interference at the 
highest levels, a somnolent police force turning a shut 
eye to a dastardly rampage of the hospital, the 
cosmetic transfer of the Principal, the delayed 
registration of the FIR (how bizarre or perhaps not so), 
the purported polygraph test of some key people – 
are all automatic legal steps but what about the 
identity and the number of accused people.  And 
what about the fakery of the letter to the PM from the 
Chief Minister asking for a more stringent law – how 
jejune!  July 1 saw a complete overhaul of the criminal 
laws and the new ones came into e�ect promising 

safety of women and children.  What we need is an 
administration with spine to ensure that all the 
accused are nabbed, remanded to judicial or police 
custody, interrogated, evidence gathered and safely 
secured and not tampered with and the case be put 
on a fast-track.  Even assuming that it gets an 
expeditious trial, one is looking at a minimum of 
seven – eight years before all the tiers of the 
labyrinthine Court system are exhausted culminating 
into a just result. If the result is death penalty, it then 
gives rise to a Mercy Petition before the President 
where one hopes that it does not languish before the 
curtain is dropped on the sordid saga.  

Non-implementation We will not delve much into 
legalese except to say that every single step right from 
the time that a crime has been committed until the 
trial begins and even the procedure for the evidence 
to be led has been elaborately spelt out in the three 
old laws, and also, the new statutes.  And the Courts 
have been tough enough to �ll in the sometimes 
obvious but more interpretational gaps to ensure that 
not only the criminals are brought to justice, but also, 
the sentences operate as a deterrent.  One of our 
friends – a non-lawyer – asked the other day that if 
this is the case then why is still there no fear of the law 
and crimes are getting more gruesome by the day.  He 
further said with gnashed teeth that castration 
(chemical or otherwise) is absolutely imperative.  To 
his �rst query, we raised the same point – 
implementation!  The wrath of the State High Court or 
the Supreme Court comes much later when the 
Administration has had its way (or perhaps sway) and 
has failed miserably.  Plebeian puissant is what we 
have seen in Kolkata, and across the country, resulting 
in mass awareness brooking some necessary 
measures at least on the safety front.  Are the police 
free to nab the culprits and assuming that they are, do 
they get paid enough to ensure that the trial gets to 
its logical conclusion – it all boils down to the integrity 
of the Investigating O�cer.  A polygraph test of the 
accused Sanjay Roy who has seemingly admitted to 

the heinous crime will face a ferocious 
cross-examination as he appears to have 
vacillating statements.  More importantly, is he the 
only perpetrator when there is overwhelming 
evidence to suggest that he could not have been 
alone given the mutilated state of the body.  Why is 
there only one CCTV footage to show that he was 
seen entering the premises – what about other 
footages or have they been blacked out!  To the 
second question about a be�tting punishment like 
castration, I answered that, despite being 
suggested by a Madras High Court Bench 
(speaking through J. Kirubakaran in 2015) that it 
would lead to magical results in relation to child 
rape, it would be in the realm of constitutional 
�agrancy in the sense that it would arguably 
violate Article 21.  Two wrongs can seldom make a 
right!  A rape is gruesome even if there is 
penetration against the will or consent of the 
woman in question. Mere changing the law is no 
answer.  What is required is a change in the mindset 
at all levels – of men in society, and of those 
entrusted with implementing the law.  It does not 
have to be barbaric like the Kolkata case to invite 
the punishment of castration. What is needed is 
honest implementation of the extant laws 
timeously and impartially.  

Criminal Law Amendments The criminal law 
amendment in 2013 included acid attacks, 
voyeurism and sexual harassment in the then 
Indian Penal Code, whereas the criminal law 
amendment in 2018 extended the minimum 
punishment for rape from seven to ten years and 
for twenty years extendable up to life 
imprisonment or death for rape and gangrape 
below the age of 12 years.  It is very clear that the 
July 1 overhaul of the criminal laws hasn’t had a 
deterrent e�ect.  This Retributive Theory of 
Criminal Justice does have its place besides a 
Reformative Theory (which the Human Rights 
Activists spew out galore).  We believe that a 
Preventive Theory needs to gain momentum 
where besides isolated or lonely spots being 
well-lit or street marshals being present in 
trouble-prone areas, the sensitization of the police 
is a key component.  

Global Reports In India, the National Crime 

Records Bureau reported that in 2022 over 4,00,000 
cases of crimes against women were registered 
showing a 4% increase from the past year.  World 
statistics say that in countries (including the US) 
with information on rape, less than 40% seek help 
and less than 10% seek police assistance.  Acquittal 
ensues.  The US has a fairly brisk Court System in 
terms of disposal but is no better than India 
because only 9% face trial from which only 3% go 
to jail with the remaining 97% free out there to 
commit another o�ence.  This smacks of nothing 
but law enforcement apathy where even in the 
most advanced countries women �ght shy to come 
forward.  

International Law International Law broadly has 
Convention On the Elimination of All Forms of 
Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), which 
was adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1979 
popularly known as an International Bill of Women 
Rights.  India signed it in 1980 and rati�ed it in 1993 
and successive governments have endeavoured to 
push forth Women Empowerment but more needs 
to be done.  The Convention on the Prevention and 
Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (Genocide 
Convention) adopted in 1948 was a notable 
response to the atrocities of World War II.  Any 
practicing international lawyer will tell you that 
genocide has come to include rapes within its fold 
– it is jus cogens – a peremptory norm that trumps 
other norms.  

 To conclude, it is all very jingoistic to suggest 
imposition of President’s Rule in West Bengal but 
that won’t help.  The problem does not lie only at 
the top of the ladder but in the inhuman 
administration devoid of any sensitivity that is so 
very much required in cases of this nature.  A 
chequered path to justice with all the ignominies 
littered along the path is what the victim’s family is 
facing.  Until the administration does get 
sensitised, what is required is a Court-monitored 
investigation right up to the stage of judgement 
(conviction and sentencing) so that Justice does 
not remain a cloistered virtue for the privileged or a 
teasing illusion for the common man.  The more it 
becomes inaccessible, the less stable our 
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only perpetrator when there is overwhelming 
evidence to suggest that he could not have been 
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seen entering the premises – what about other 
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imposition of President’s Rule in West Bengal but 
that won’t help.  The problem does not lie only at 
the top of the ladder but in the inhuman 
administration devoid of any sensitivity that is so 
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chequered path to justice with all the ignominies 
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facing.  Until the administration does get 
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investigation right up to the stage of judgement 
(conviction and sentencing) so that Justice does 
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attempt to tell you why because the rap from the 
Supreme Court is not unfounded.  The very fact that it 

had to take a suo motu cognizance proves that the 
Kolkata Law and Order machinery is in complete 
disarray.

Administrative Failure Political interference at the 
highest levels, a somnolent police force turning a shut 
eye to a dastardly rampage of the hospital, the 
cosmetic transfer of the Principal, the delayed 
registration of the FIR (how bizarre or perhaps not so), 
the purported polygraph test of some key people – 
are all automatic legal steps but what about the 
identity and the number of accused people.  And 
what about the fakery of the letter to the PM from the 
Chief Minister asking for a more stringent law – how 
jejune!  July 1 saw a complete overhaul of the criminal 
laws and the new ones came into e�ect promising 

safety of women and children.  What we need is an 
administration with spine to ensure that all the 
accused are nabbed, remanded to judicial or police 
custody, interrogated, evidence gathered and safely 
secured and not tampered with and the case be put 
on a fast-track.  Even assuming that it gets an 
expeditious trial, one is looking at a minimum of 
seven – eight years before all the tiers of the 
labyrinthine Court system are exhausted culminating 
into a just result. If the result is death penalty, it then 
gives rise to a Mercy Petition before the President 
where one hopes that it does not languish before the 
curtain is dropped on the sordid saga.  

Non-implementation We will not delve much into 
legalese except to say that every single step right from 
the time that a crime has been committed until the 
trial begins and even the procedure for the evidence 
to be led has been elaborately spelt out in the three 
old laws, and also, the new statutes.  And the Courts 
have been tough enough to �ll in the sometimes 
obvious but more interpretational gaps to ensure that 
not only the criminals are brought to justice, but also, 
the sentences operate as a deterrent.  One of our 
friends – a non-lawyer – asked the other day that if 
this is the case then why is still there no fear of the law 
and crimes are getting more gruesome by the day.  He 
further said with gnashed teeth that castration 
(chemical or otherwise) is absolutely imperative.  To 
his �rst query, we raised the same point – 
implementation!  The wrath of the State High Court or 
the Supreme Court comes much later when the 
Administration has had its way (or perhaps sway) and 
has failed miserably.  Plebeian puissant is what we 
have seen in Kolkata, and across the country, resulting 
in mass awareness brooking some necessary 
measures at least on the safety front.  Are the police 
free to nab the culprits and assuming that they are, do 
they get paid enough to ensure that the trial gets to 
its logical conclusion – it all boils down to the integrity 
of the Investigating O�cer.  A polygraph test of the 
accused Sanjay Roy who has seemingly admitted to 

the heinous crime will face a ferocious 
cross-examination as he appears to have 
vacillating statements.  More importantly, is he the 
only perpetrator when there is overwhelming 
evidence to suggest that he could not have been 
alone given the mutilated state of the body.  Why is 
there only one CCTV footage to show that he was 
seen entering the premises – what about other 
footages or have they been blacked out!  To the 
second question about a be�tting punishment like 
castration, I answered that, despite being 
suggested by a Madras High Court Bench 
(speaking through J. Kirubakaran in 2015) that it 
would lead to magical results in relation to child 
rape, it would be in the realm of constitutional 
�agrancy in the sense that it would arguably 
violate Article 21.  Two wrongs can seldom make a 
right!  A rape is gruesome even if there is 
penetration against the will or consent of the 
woman in question. Mere changing the law is no 
answer.  What is required is a change in the mindset 
at all levels – of men in society, and of those 
entrusted with implementing the law.  It does not 
have to be barbaric like the Kolkata case to invite 
the punishment of castration. What is needed is 
honest implementation of the extant laws 
timeously and impartially.  

Criminal Law Amendments The criminal law 
amendment in 2013 included acid attacks, 
voyeurism and sexual harassment in the then 
Indian Penal Code, whereas the criminal law 
amendment in 2018 extended the minimum 
punishment for rape from seven to ten years and 
for twenty years extendable up to life 
imprisonment or death for rape and gangrape 
below the age of 12 years.  It is very clear that the 
July 1 overhaul of the criminal laws hasn’t had a 
deterrent e�ect.  This Retributive Theory of 
Criminal Justice does have its place besides a 
Reformative Theory (which the Human Rights 
Activists spew out galore).  We believe that a 
Preventive Theory needs to gain momentum 
where besides isolated or lonely spots being 
well-lit or street marshals being present in 
trouble-prone areas, the sensitization of the police 
is a key component.  

Global Reports In India, the National Crime 

Records Bureau reported that in 2022 over 4,00,000 
cases of crimes against women were registered 
showing a 4% increase from the past year.  World 
statistics say that in countries (including the US) 
with information on rape, less than 40% seek help 
and less than 10% seek police assistance.  Acquittal 
ensues.  The US has a fairly brisk Court System in 
terms of disposal but is no better than India 
because only 9% face trial from which only 3% go 
to jail with the remaining 97% free out there to 
commit another o�ence.  This smacks of nothing 
but law enforcement apathy where even in the 
most advanced countries women �ght shy to come 
forward.  

International Law International Law broadly has 
Convention On the Elimination of All Forms of 
Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), which 
was adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1979 
popularly known as an International Bill of Women 
Rights.  India signed it in 1980 and rati�ed it in 1993 
and successive governments have endeavoured to 
push forth Women Empowerment but more needs 
to be done.  The Convention on the Prevention and 
Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (Genocide 
Convention) adopted in 1948 was a notable 
response to the atrocities of World War II.  Any 
practicing international lawyer will tell you that 
genocide has come to include rapes within its fold 
– it is jus cogens – a peremptory norm that trumps 
other norms.  

 To conclude, it is all very jingoistic to suggest 
imposition of President’s Rule in West Bengal but 
that won’t help.  The problem does not lie only at 
the top of the ladder but in the inhuman 
administration devoid of any sensitivity that is so 
very much required in cases of this nature.  A 
chequered path to justice with all the ignominies 
littered along the path is what the victim’s family is 
facing.  Until the administration does get 
sensitised, what is required is a Court-monitored 
investigation right up to the stage of judgement 
(conviction and sentencing) so that Justice does 
not remain a cloistered virtue for the privileged or a 
teasing illusion for the common man.  The more it 
becomes inaccessible, the less stable our 
democracy becomes; respect for the Rule of Law is 
not only for the unhungry stomach and an 
untortured soul.   
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ALPHONSO, FROM ALPHONEYS
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JUDGES MUST ALSO FACE THE MIRROR
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TAXING OR RELAXING?
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The ethical dilemma –how much transparency is too much?--is not 
an uncommon one and has prevailed for centuries. Be it the Wall 
Street Crash in 1929 or the famous case of O.J. 
Simpson, or even the global �nancial crisis of 
2008, there has always been a debate about 
knowing what, when, and how much to disclose 
in the context of transparency.
Ethics serves as the foundation of 
decision-making in business, governance, and 
society. One of the most debated aspects of ethics 
is transparency—the ability to provide clear, 
open, and honest information. But is transparency 
integral to ethics, or is it just one of many tools 
used to uphold ethical standards? 
While transparency is essential in many cases, it 
may not be integral. Ethical decision-making 
requires balancing transparency with other principles such as 
con�dentiality, security, and economic stability. Here is why!
The debate of essential vs integral
If transparency were to be de�ned, it would possibly mean 
allowing light to pass through so that objects behind can be seen 
clearly. In an ethical context, it means openness, accountability, 
and clarity in actions and decisions. And the bene�ts are immense. 
For instance, it assures accountability and trust. Transparency 
enables accountability by making actions visible, ensuring that 
individuals and organizations act responsibly. It deters unethical 
behaviour by subjecting decisions to public and regulatory 
scrutiny. For instance, in judicial systems, transparency ensures 
fairness. Court proceedings that focus on the reasoning behind 
decisions allow for public trust in the legal system. Corporate 
transparency requires companies to foster a culture of openness at 
the leadership level. 
Undoubtedly, such transparent disclosures have economic bene�ts 
too. Judicial transparencies build con�dence in the regulatory 
system, thereby improving the ease of doing business and greater 
social coherence. At the same time, corporate transparency 
regarding �nancial performance, sustainability, and corporate 
governance builds investor con�dence, leading to higher stock 
valuations, lower borrowing costs, reduced �nancial stress, and 
overall �nancial stability. It also attracts greater foreign investment.
However, transparency must be balanced with client 
con�dentiality. For instance, if banks publicly disclose details of 
non-performing assets (NPAs), it could violate the rights of 
defaulting clients. Again, excessive scrutiny into a judge’s conduct 
during trials can be counterproductive, leading to media 
sensationalism rather than justice.
The other bene�t of transparency is that it prevents corruption and 
ensures good governance. Transparency is a powerful tool for 
preventing corruption in both public and private sectors. When 
organizations disclose �nancial records, policies, and 
decision-making processes, they minimise the chances of fraud 
and mismanagement. For instance, publishing government 
budgets and expenditures ensures that taxpayer money is used 
e�ciently. Lower corruption leads to better public services such as 

quality roads, education, and healthcare. Similarly, corporate 
transparency attracts investors and gains public con�dence.

However, transparency has its limitations. For instance, 
governments cannot reveal every detail of defense 
spending due to national security concerns. Similarly, 
organisations must protect sensitive business 
information from competitors.
Can transparency and the right to know be vague?
A fundamental ethical question is whether 
stakeholders—including investors, consumers, 
employees, and the public—have an absolute right to 
information. The general rule is that transparency 
should be upheld when it involves legal and 
regulatory requirements and stakeholders' rights and 
interests.
However, vagueness in communication is sometimes 

necessary, particularly in the following cases con�dentiality (when 
companies must protect intellectual property, trade secrets, and 
strategic plans to maintain competitive advantage); national 
security (when certain disclosures could pose risks to security and 
public safety, and; privacy (that involves the right to data 
protection). 
For instance, complete transparency regarding the fragility of the 
�nancial system at a time of crisis can trigger mass panic, leading to 
a catastrophic bank run. Instead, carefully framed communication 
that ensures that while people are aware of the challenges, they do 
not lose complete con�dence in the system can help stabilize 
markets and restore trust over time. Even in the judicial system, 
courts sometimes resort to closed-envelope judgments, keeping 
certain proceedings con�dential for valid legal reasons.
Sometimes, compliance and regulations without clear guidelines 
may result in vagueness. With the growing emphasis on 
environmental, social, and governance (ESG) factors, companies 
face pressure to demonstrate sustainability e�orts. However, a lack 
of standardisation in ESG metrics can lead to vague or misleading 
disclosures. Sometimes, a complex supply chain and globally 
integrated value chain make it impossible to estimate carbon 
imprints. 
How to Balance Transparency and Con�dentiality?
Ethics is rarely black and white. While transparency is a powerful 
ethical tool, a balance must be struck between openness and 
con�dentiality, stakeholder rights and corporate interests, public 
scrutiny and security concerns. Ethical decision-making requires a 
structured approach to determine when transparency is 
appropriate and when con�dentiality must be maintained. If 
transparency is legally mandated, information must be disclosed. 
But there must be clear guidelines either from the regulatory or 
judicial authorities on what information can be shared and what 
must remain con�dential.
Under many circumstances, ethical decisions require contextual 
judgment—what is ethical in one situation may not be in another. 
Ultimately, transparency should serve the greater good without 
compromising trust, economic stability, or ethical integrity.

DR. RUMKI MAJUMDAR 

THE FINE BALANCE: ETHICS, TRANSPARENCY, 
AND THE RIGHT TO KNOW
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Di�ering views related to reformatory justice v/s retributive justice 
has brought out a pertinent food for thought on whether death 
sentence in a murder trial, speci�cally multiple 
murders, quali�es as a “rarest of rare” instance 
be�tting a straight death penalty. If capital 
punishment is in books of Law and Justice, under 
the Indian Penal Code, can it not be put into 
practice for criminal cases that merit such a 
punishment?

The Supreme Court views that not all multiple 
murder cases qualify as a “rarest of rare” instance, 
warranting an immediate death penalty, especially 
when there is scope for reform. The apex court 
recently commuted the death sentence of a man 
convicted of murdering his wife and four minor daughters and 
instead sentenced him to life imprisonment without remission. The 
apex court acknowledged the grave brutality of the crime and also 
upheld that before giving a death sentence, the judiciary needs to 
look beyond the o�ence and also consider the circumstances 
under which the o�ence was committed. In this particular case, the 
o�ender’s death sentence was commuted to life imprisonment 
instead after looking at the convict’s clean records before the crime, 
his good prison records and absence of any evidence suggesting 
that he could be a potential threat to society.

“An eye for an eye and a tooth for a tooth” spells clearly that anyone 
who commits a crime should be punished in a way that is equal to 
the harm they caused. It essentially represents exact retaliation or 
justice based on the principle of “measure for measure”. A dramatic 
scene in 1977 multi-starrer �lm “Dharam Veer" in which super star 
Dharmendra says…..”haath ke badle haath aur ma ke badle ma”. 
This is exactly based on the legal principle of “getting back” what is 
done to the victim. The phrase “an eye for an eye and  tooth for a 
tooth” appears in the Bible and although it is seen by common man 
as advocating for revenge, some interpretations suggest that it was 
in fact meant to prevent excessive punishment by establishing a 
clear limit on retribution.

Death penalty laws vary from country to country with many 
countries abolishing it or limiting its use. Around 112 countries 
have abolished the death penalty entirely, 7 countries have 
abolished the death penalty for all crimes except in special 
circumstances and 22 countries have abolished the death penalty 
in practice which means they have not used it in at least 10 years.

The United States of America still carries out executions. In the 
Asian Continent, China as a country is the world’s most active user 
of the death penalty and executes more people than the rest of the 
world. Japan sometimes executes criminals whilst Singapore 
resumed executions in March 2022 after a two-year moratorium (a 
temporary delay or suspension of an activity or Law. It can refer to 
a legally authorized delay in paying debt or performing a legal 
obligation). Capital punishment has been completely abolished in 
all European countries- Russia retains death penalty in law but 
there has been a moratorium since 1996.

Capital punishment in Saudi Arabia is a legal punishment. Most 
executions in the country are carried out by decapitation 
(beheading). Saudi Arabia is the only country that still uses this 

method. Capital punishment is used both for o�enders of lethal 
crimes and non-lethal crimes, as well as juvenile o�enders. In Saudi 

Arabia, occasionally, capital punishment may be 
performed by shooting or �ring squad. Saudi Arabia 
witnesses an escalating use of death penalty and 
this regressive trend has raised concerns because 
they are in violation of international human rights.

In India, capital punishment- also known as death 
penalty, is imposed for the most serious crimes and 
is only carried out in “rarest of rare cases”. The 
primary method of execution is hanging by the 
neck until death. Arguments against capital 
punishment include that it violates human rights, is 
ine�ective and can lead to the execution of 

innocent people. Arguments in favour of capital punishment 
include that it can deter crime and provide a closure for the victim’s 
families. Since death sentence is considered only for the “rarest of 
rare” cases, it would apply to heinous crimes involving extreme 
brutality, premediation, or a signi�cant threat to society, often 
involving multiple murders.

The court considers several points when deciding to give capital 
punishment such as:

• Severity of the crime- is the crime exceptionally brutal with a 
high degree of violence? Or taking multiple lives?

• Aggravating circumstances which includes factors like 
premediation, use of torture or past history of violent o�enses.

• Mitigating circumstances- which includes factors like mental 
illnesd, past history of abuse.

In the brutal rape and murder case of a young post graduate doctor 
of R.G.Kar Medical College, the convict had not been given death 
sentence, instead he has been given life imprisonment. The victim 
was brutally raped and murdered. The court says that this case 
cannot be considered as “rarest of rare”, inspite of the victim’s body 
which was found in the seminar hall, in a semi-nude condition with 
her eyes, mouth and genitals bleeding. She was killed via 
strangulation and the autopsy report revealed scratch marks on the 
woman’s face, mouth, throat. She was strangulated resulting in a 
fracture of the thyroid cartilage. Signs of “genital torture” and 
“perverted sexuality” was evident.

The debate on whether capital punishment should be abolished or 
remain in place will continue. Human life is valuable and everyone 
has an inalienable human right to life, even those who commit 
murders or rape. Some people argue that capital punishment is not 
retribution enough and that the death penalty may not deter 
people from committing serious violent crimes. They argue that life 
imprisonment without possibility of parole causes much more 
su�ering to the o�ender than a painless death after a short period 
of imprisonment. 

Quoting Amnesty International “.....research has failed to provide 
scienti�c proof that executions have a greater deterrent e�ect than 
life imprisonment. The key to real and true deterrence is to increase 
the likelihood of detection, arrest and conviction. The death 
penalty is a harsh punishment, but it is not harsh on crime.”

• • •

JALPA MERCHANT

SPARE THE NOOSE AND SPOIL THE BRAT?



47

TO THE MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

FOR FAIR BUSINESS PRACTICES LIMITED

Report on the Standalone Financial Statements:
Opinion :
We have audited the accompanying Standalone Financial Statements of  COUNCIL  
FOR  FAIR  BUSINESS PRACTICES LIMITED (“the Company”) which comprises the 
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025, the Statement of Profit and Loss, and Statement 
of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and Notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations 
given to us, the aforesaid standalone financial statements give the information 
required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a 
true and fair view in conformity with the Accounting principles generally accepted in 
India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2025, and its Loss and 
Cash flows for the year ended on that date.
Basis for Opinion :
We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance with 
the Standards on Auditing specified under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 
2013. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules thereunder, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 
the ICAI’s Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone 
financial statements.
Information other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon:
The Company’s Management is responsible for the preparation of the other 
information. The other information comprises the information included in the Board’s 
Report including Annexures to Board’s Report and Shareholder’s Information, but 
does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
during the course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibility of Management for the Standalone Financial Statements :
The Company’s Management is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) 
of the Act with respect to the preparation of these standalone financial statements 
that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and cash 
flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, including the accounting standards specified under Section 133 of
the Act. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting 
records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of 
the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; 
selection and application of appropriate implementation and maintenance of 
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial 
controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness 
of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 
financial statement that give a true and fair view and are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
The Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the company’s financial 
reporting process
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements :
1.  Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone 

financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Standards on Auditing will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

2.  As part of an audit in accordance with Standards on Auditing, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. We also :

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under 
section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on 
whether the company has adequate internal financial control systems in place 
and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our Auditor’s Report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

3. We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

4.  We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements :
5.  The provisions of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”) 

issued by the Central Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 
143 of the Act, are not applicable to the Company as it is licensed to operate 
under Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company was registered under 
Section 25 of the Companies Act, 1956.

6. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit we report that :
(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the 

best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.
(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the 

Company so far as it appears from our examination of those books.
(c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss, and the Cash Flow 

Statement dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of 
account.

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the 
Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of 
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014.

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on  
31st March, 2025 taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors 
is disqualified as on 31st March, 2025 from being appointed as a director in 
terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial 
reporting of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer 
to our separate Report in “Annexure A”. 

(g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors Report in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 197(16) of the act, as amended we 
have to submit that provisions of Section 197 are not applicable as during the 
year no remuneration is paid to Directors.

(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in 
accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as 
amended in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the 
explanations given to us :

 (i) The Company has no pending litigations which will create any impact on its 
financial position in its financial statements.

 (ii) The Company does not have any material foreseeable losses for which a 
provision may be necessary.

 (iii) There were no amounts that were required to be transferred to the Investor 
education protection fund  by the Company.

(iv) (a) The management has represented that, to the best of it’s knowledge and 
belief, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from 
borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by 
the company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign 
entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in 
writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or 
indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner 
whatsoever by or on behalf of the company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries.

  (b)  The management has represented, that, to the best of it’s knowledge and 
belief, no funds have been received by the company from any person(s) or 
entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Funding Parties”), with the 
understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the company 
shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party 
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

  (c)  Based on audit procedures which we considered reasonable and 
appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has 
caused us to believe that the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) 
contain any material misstatement.

(v)  The Company has not declared or paid Dividend during the year therefore 
reporting under Section 123 of the Companies Act is not applicable.

(vi) Based on our examination, which included test checks, the Company has used 
an accounting software for maintaining its books of account for the financial 
year ended March 31, 2025, which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) 
facility for all relevant transactions recorded in the software. Since this is the first 
year of recording the audit trail, the preservation of audit trail as per the statutory 
requirements for record retention is not applicable for the financial year ended 
March 31, 2025.

For  M. G. VED & CO. 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Firm Registration No. 111337W
sd/-

MAYUR KAPADIA
Proprietor

Membership No. 114454
 UDIN : 24114454BKAVJG7075
Place : Mumbai
Date  : 24-07-2025

“Annexure - A” to the Independent Auditor’s Report of even date on the Standalone 
Financial Statements of COUNCIL FOR FAIR BUSINESS PRACTICES LIMITED
(Referred to in paragraph 6(f) under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements’ section of our report to the Members of COUNCIL FOR FAIR BUSINESS 
PRACTICES LIMITED of even date) 
Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of 
Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) :
We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of COUNCIL 
FOR FAIR BUSINESS PRACTICES LIMITED (“the Company”) as of March 31, 2025 in 
conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial statements of the Company for 
the year ended on that date.
Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls :
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal 
financial controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria 
established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial 
Reporting issued by the Institute of  Chartered Accountants of  India.

These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the 
orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s 
policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and 
errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely 
preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 
2013.
Auditor’s Responsibility :
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial 
controls over financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing, issued by 
ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, 
to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an 
audit of Internal Financial Controls and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over 
financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated 
effectively in all material respects.
Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
adequacy of the internal financial controls system over financial reporting and their 
operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial 
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including  
the  assessment  of  the  risks of  material  misstatement  of  the  financial   
statements, whether   due to fraud or error.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls 
system over financial reporting of the Company.
Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting :
A company's internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial control over 
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that - 
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and 

fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 

permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and 

(3)  provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting :
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial 
reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of 
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be 
detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls over 
financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial 
control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.
Opinion :
In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal 
financial controls system over financial reporting and such internal financial controls 
over financial reporting were operating effectively as at March 31, 2025 based on the 
internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note 
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India.

For  M. G. VED & CO. 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Firm Regn. No. 111337W
sd/-

MAYUR KAPADIA
Proprietor

 Membership No. 114454
 UDIN : 24114454BKAVJG7075
Place : Mumbai
Date  : 24-07-2025



BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31ST MARCH, 2025

I.  EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   
1.  Shareholders Fund   
 a.  Share Capital   2.01  — —
 b. Reserves and Surplus    2.02        166.17  179.72
          166.17 179.72

2.  Share Application Money Pending Allotment  — —
   
3.  Non-current Liabilities   
    — —
4.  Current Liabilities   
 a. Trade Payables  2.03   2.93 0.15
 b.  Other current Liabilities    2.04   0.91   0.55
      3.83  0.70
  TOTAL      170.00  180.42

II.  ASSETS
1.  Non-current Assets 
a.  Property, Plant and Equipment 2.05  
     i. Property, Plant and Equipment       1.35 1.63
     ii. Intangible Assets      0.12   0.84
 iii. Capital Work in progress     — -

        1.47  2.47
 b. Non-current Investments   2.06  55.77  72.00
 c.  Long Term Loans & Advances 
 d.  Other non-current assets  2.07 0.33 0.34

         56.10   72.34
2.  Current Assets   
 a. Trade Receivables  2.08      39.56  22.27
 b. Cash & Cash equivalents  2.09    12.28    19.88
 c. Short term Loans & Advances 2.10 0.02  0.61
 d. Other Current Assets  2.11     60.57    62.84
      112.43    105.61
  TOTAL      170.00    180.42

Particulars Notes As at 31.03.2025 As at 31.03.2024
Rs. (In Lakhs) Rs. (In Lakhs)

Notes forming part of the Accounts   1 & 2
As per our attached report of even date,
For and on behalf of M G VED & CO. sd/- sd/-
Chartered Accountants Swapnil Kothari Vineet Bhatnagar 
FRN No. 111337W President Vice - President 
 DIN : 05235636 DIN : 00475116 
sd/-
(Mayur Kapadia)   
Proprietor sd/- sd/- 
M No. 114454 Bhalchandra Barve  Ashok Bhansali
Place  : Mumbai Hon. Secretary  Hon. Treasurer 
 DIN :  00038468 DIN : 00452374

   
Date: 24-07-2025

COUNCIL FOR FAIR BUSINESS 
PRACTICES LIMITED

CIN: U51900MH1968NPL013966
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STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2025

INCOME   

Revenue from Operations 2.12    25.18  43.86

Other Income 2.13  4.22   5.90

TOTAL INCOME      29.40   49.76 

   

EXPENSES   

Employee Benefits Expenses 2.14     31.84   30.34

Depreciation / Amortisation 2.05   1.00 1.22

Other Expenses 2.15    22.90  17.64

TOTAL EXPENSES       55.74  49.20

   

Profit/(Loss) Before Exceptional & Extra Ordinery Items & Tax    (26.33)     0.56

Exceptional Items   

 - Prior period items  — —

Profit/(Loss) Before & Extra Ordinery Items & Tax  (26.33)    0.56

Extra Ordinery Items   — —

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax  (26.33)    0.56

Provision for Current Tax   — —

Income Tax of Earlier Years   (0.97) —

Provision for Deferred Tax    — —

Profit/(Loss) for the Year from continuing operations   (27.30)  0.56

Profit/(Loss) for the Year from Discontinuing operations  — —

Tax Expenses of discontinuing operations   — —

Profit/(Loss) from Discontinuing operations After Tax   — —

Profit/(Loss) for the Year  (27.30) 0.56

Particulars Notes
Year Ended
31.03.2024

Year Ended 
31.03.2025

Rs. (In Lakhs) Rs. (In Lakhs)

Notes forming part of the Accounts  1 & 2
As per our attached report of even date,
For and on behalf of M G VED & CO. sd/- sd/-
Chartered Accountants Swapnil Kothari Vineet Bhatnagar 
FRN No. 111337W President Vice - President 
 DIN : 05235636 DIN : 00475116 
sd/-
(Mayur Kapadia)   
Proprietor sd/- sd/- 
M No. 114454 Bhalchandra Barve   Ashok Bhansali 
Place  : Mumbai Hon. Secretary  Hon. Treasurer 
 DIN : 00038468 DIN : 00452374

Date: 24-07-2025 

COUNCIL FOR FAIR BUSINESS 
PRACTICES LIMITED

CIN: U51900MH1968NPL013966



COUNCIL FOR FAIR BUSINESS
PRACTICES LIMITED

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2025

Notes forming part of the Accounts  1 & 2
As per our attached report of even date,
For and on behalf of M G VED & CO. sd/- sd/-
Chartered Accountants Swapnil Kothari Vineet Bhatnagar 
FRN No. 111337W President Vice - President 
 DIN : 05235636 DIN : 00475116 
sd/-
(Mayur Kapadia)   
Proprietor sd/- sd/-  
M No. 114454 Bhalchandra Barve Ashok Bhansali 
Place  : Mumbai Hon. Secretary  Hon. Treasurer 
 DIN : 00038468  DIN : 00452374 

Date: 24-07-2025 
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Particulars
Year Ended 
31.03.2025

Rs. (In Lakhs)

Year Ended 
31.03.2024

Rs. (In Lakhs)

 A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

 Net Profit/Loss before tax and extraordinary items   (27.30)   0.56 
 Adjustments for :   
 Interest Income   (3.63)  (5.50)
 Depreciation   1.00 1.22

 Operating profit before change in working capital     (29.93) (3.73)

 Changes in assets and liabilities   
 Decrease/ (Increase) in loans & advances   0.59  0.47
 Decrease/ (Increase) in loans & advances   (17.29)   (16.69)
 Decrease/ (Increase) in Other Non Current Assets     0.01 —
 Decrease/ (Increase) in Other Current Assets   4.03    (11.73)
 Increase/ (Decrease) in Other Current Liabilities   3.13   (0.13)
    (9.53) (28.08)

 Cash generated from operations   (39.46)  (31.80)
 Income taxes paid    (1.76)  (4.71)
 Net cash generated from operations    (41.22)  (36.51)
    
B CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
 Purchase/ Addition to Fixed Assets    —  —
 Gain on sale of fixed assets   
 Sale/ Deletion to Fixed Assets   
 Dividend Income  — —
 Investment in Share  — —
 Interest Received    3.63  5.50
 Addition in General Fund    13.75   12.74
 Addition in Corpus Fund  — —
 Decrease in Investments   
 Maturity/Investment of Fixed Deposits   16.23 13.00
 Net cash flows used in investing activities     33.61  31.24

C CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
 Repayment of lease Finance liabilities  — —   
 Increase in Share Capital  — —   
 Net Cash Flows Used In Financing Activities  — —   
 Net Increase /(Decrease) In Cash And Cash Equivalents (A+B+C)  (7.61)  (5.27)

 Cash And Cash Equivalents (Opening Balance)     19.88  25.15

 Cash And Cash Equivalents (Closing Balance)   12.28   19.88 

    (7.61)  (5.27)
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COUNCIL FOR FAIR BUSINESS
PRACTICES LIMITED

NOTE NO. - 2 NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2025

2.01 Share Capital   
 (a) Authorised   — —
  TOTAL  — —
 (b) Issued, Subscribed And Paid-Up    
       Equity Share Capital   — —

2.02 Reserve & Surplus   
a. Corpus Fund   
 Opening balance-corpus fund  35.00 35.00
 Addition : Donation Received  — —
 Closing Balance      35.00  35.00
b. CFBP Jamnalal Bajaj Puraskar Corpus Fund   
 Opening balance-Award    14.50 14.50
 Closing Balance     14.50  14.50
c. General Fund   
 Opening balance-General fund     131.81  119.07
 Addition :- Life member and Patron member Fee    13.75 12.00
 Addition: Entrance Fees received during the year  — 0.74 
 Closing Balance        145.56   131.81 
d. Income & Expenditure Account   
 Opening balance       (1.59)   (2.14)
 Add: Balance in Income & Expenditure   (27.30)  0.56
 Closing Balance of Surplus/(Deficit)     (28.89)   (1.59)
  TOTAL    166.17  179.72 

2.03 Trade Payables  
 Sundry Creditors    2.93  0.15
 Note : Kindly Refer Note 2.16 for Trade Payable Ageing

2.04 Other current Liabilities   
 TDS & Service Tax Payable   0.32  (0.06)
 Audit Fees Payable   0.50 0.50
 Award Income received in advance (Net)  — —
 Other payables   0.10 0.11
  TOTAL    0.91 0.55

2.06 Non-current Investments -Unquoted    
 a.  Fixed Deposit With Public Limited Company   — —
 Against CFBP Jamnalal Bajaj Puraskar Fund  16.00  16.00
 Fixed Deposit With Public Limited Company (Others)    39.50  56.00
 Accr Interest on Flexi Deposit  0.27 —
  TOTAL    55.77 72.00

2.07 Other non-current asset   
 - Deposits -Unsecurred and Considered Good :   
 Deposit with Telphone    0.15  0.15
 Rent Deposit   0.05 0.05
 IMC Hall Deposit   0.07 0.07
 Electricity Deposit    0.06 0.06
 Other Advances   — 0.01
  TOTAL  0.33 0.34

2.08 Trade Receivables   
 Trade Receivables considered good – Secured   — —
 Trade Receivables considered good – Unsecured      39.56  22.27
 Trade Receivables which have significant increase in Credit Risk   — —
 Trade Receivables – credit impaired   — —
  TOTAL    39.56 22.27
 Note : Kindly Refer Note 2.17 for Trade Receivable Ageing

2.09 Cash & Cash Equivalents   
 - Balances with Bank     11.85 11.43
 - Fixed Deposits with Bank      0.39  8.38
 - Cash     0.03 0.07
  TOTAL   12.28 19.88

Rs. (In Lakhs) Rs. (In Lakhs)
Particulars

Year Ended 
31.03.2025

Year Ended 
31.03.2024
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Notes forming part of the Accounts  1 & 2
As per our attached report of even date,
For and on behalf of M G VED & CO. sd/- sd/-
Chartered Accountants Swapnil Kothari Vineet Bhatnagar 
FRN No. 111337W President Vice - President 
 DIN : 05235636 DIN : 00475116 
sd/-
(Mayur Kapadia)   
Proprietor sd/- sd/-
M No. 114454 Bhalchandra Barve Ashok Bhansali 
Place  : Mumbai Hon. Secretary  Hon. Treasurer 
 DIN : 00038468  DIN : 00452374  
Date: 24-07-2025

Particulars Year Ended 31.03.2025 Year Ended 31.03.2024
Rs. (In Lakhs) Rs. (In Lakhs)

2.10  Short term Loans & Advances    
  (Unsecured, considered good)    
  Loans Receivables considered good – Secured   —  — 
  Loans Receivables considered good – Unsecured     (0.05)  0.54
  Loans Receivables which have significant increase in Credit Risk    —   — 
  Loans Receivables – credit impaired    —   — 
  - Advance recovered In Cash or Kind     0.07 0.07
  TOTAL     0.02 0.61
2.11 Other Current Assets 
 - GST Netoff Input Tax Credit      42.59   46.61
 -Income Tax & Tax Deducted at Source     17.98  16.22
  TOTAL    60.57 62.84
2.12 Income from Operations
  Income from CFBP Jamnalal Bajaj Puraskar      43.15  64.40
  Less: Puraskar Expenses    (13.49)  (26.46)
  Net Income from CFBP Jamnalal Bajaj Puraskar      29.66  37.94 
 Income from Consumer Creative Art film festival       28.46  58.89
  Less: Consumer Creative Art film festival  Expenses    (44.06)    (60.83)
  Net Income from Film Festival                   (15.60)  (1.93)
  Programme Sponsership      43.94    53.23
  Less:Program expenses     (42.19)    (51.82)
     1.75  1.41
  Income from Membership fees    0.04 2.04 
  Income from Bulletin      9.34  4.40 

      9.37  6.44 
   TOTAL     25.18  43.86 
 2.13   Other Income    
  Interest      3.63 5.50
  Other Income      0.59   0.40
  TOTAL   4.22 5.90
 2.14   Employee Benefits Expenses    
  Salary expenses       26.99  25.44
  Staff Welfare expenses     2.31  2.08
  Contribution to Provident and Other Funds    2.53  2.82
   TOTAL    31.84   30.34
 2.15   Other Expenses    
   Computer Expenses     0.08   0.18 
  Bank charges     0.02   0.02 
  Travelling and Conveyance    0.70   0.74 
  Electricity Charges     0.35   0.38 
  Rent     0.24   0.24 
 GST Expense out    4.97   -   
  Professional Charges    1.39   3.30 
  Printing & stationery     0.76   0.77 
  Office Expenses     0.66   1.39 
  Website Expenses     1.10   1.05 
  Repairs and Maintenance    1.94   1.21 
   Postage and Telephone     0.97   1.19 
   Audit Fees                                                                                       0.55   0.55 
  Miscelleneous Expenses    0.64   1.10 
  Interest on late payment    0.01   0.04 
  Newsletter Expenses     3.07   2.96 
  Membership & Subscription    -     2.00 
  XEROX EXPENSES     0.01   0.02 
  Meeting Expenses     0.45   0.48 
  Receivable written off    5.00   -   
   TOTAL   22.90 17.64
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Notes forming part of the Accounts  1 & 2
As per our attached report of even date,
For and on behalf of M G VED & CO. sd/- sd/-
Chartered Accountants Swapnil Kothari Vineet Bhatnagar 
FRN No. 111337W President Vice - President 
 DIN : 05235636 DIN : 00475116 
sd/-
(Mayur Kapadia)   
Proprietor sd/- sd/-
M No. 114454 Bhalchandra Barve Ashok Bhansali  
Place  : Mumbai Hon. Secretary  Hon. Treasurer 
 DIN : 00038468 DIN : 00452374 
Date: 24-07-2025

2
.1

6
 T

R
A

D
E

 P
A

Y
A

B
LE

S
 A

G
E

IN
G

 S
C

H
E

D
U

LE
R

s.
 (I

n 
La

kh
s)

Ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1st
 M

ar
ch

 2
02

5

Pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
s

O
ut

st
an

di
ng

 fo
r f

ol
lo

w
in

g 
pe

rio
ds

 fr
om

 d
ue

 d
at

e 
of

 p
ay

m
en

t

(i)
 

M
SM

E 
 

 
 

 
 - 

  
(ii

) 
O

th
er

s 
 

 
 

 
 - 

  
(ii

i) 
D

is
pu

te
d 

du
es

 –
 

 
 

 
 

 - 
  

N
O

N
 M

SM
E 

 
 

 
 

 - 
  

(iv
) 

D
is

pu
te

d 
du

es
 - 

 
 

 
 

 - 
  

O
th

er
s 

  2
.9

0 
- 

0.
02

 
- 

2.
93

Le
ss

 th
an

1 
ye

ar
1-

2 
ye

ar
s

2-
3 

ye
ar

s
M

or
e 

th
an

3 
Ye

ar
s

To
ta

l

R
s.

 (I
n 

La
kh

s)

Ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1st
 M

ar
ch

 2
02

4

Pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
s

O
ut

st
an

di
ng

 fo
r f

ol
lo

w
in

g 
pe

rio
ds

 fr
om

 d
ue

 d
at

e 
of

 p
ay

m
en

t

(i)
 

M
SM

E 
 

 
 

 
 - 

  
(ii

) 
O

th
er

s 
 

 
 

 
 - 

  
(ii

i) 
D

is
pu

te
d 

du
es

 –
 

 
 

 
 

 - 
  

N
O

N
 M

SM
E 

 
 

 
 

 - 
  

(iv
) 

D
is

pu
te

d 
du

es
 - 

 
 

 
 

 - 
  

O
th

er
s 

 0
.1

3 
0.

02
 

 
 

0.
15

Le
ss

 th
an

1 
ye

ar
1-

2 
ye

ar
s

2-
3 

ye
ar

s
M

or
e 

th
an

3 
Ye

ar
s

To
ta

l

2
.1

7
 T

R
A

D
E

 R
E

C
E

IV
A

B
LE

S
 A

G
E

IN
G

 S
C

H
E

D
U

LE

To
ta

l

Pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
s

O
ut

st
an

di
ng

 fo
r f

ol
lo

w
in

g 
pe

rio
ds

 fr
om

 d
ue

 d
at

e 
of

 p
ay

m
en

t

(i)
 

U
nd

is
pu

te
d 

Tr
ad

e 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

s 
–

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

go
od

 
36

.3
8 

3.
16

 
 0

.0
2 

- 
 

 
- 

 
 3

9.
56

(ii
) 

U
nd

is
pu

te
d 

Tr
ad

e 
R

ec
ei

va
bl

es
 –

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

do
ub

tf
ul

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
-

(ii
i) 

D
is

pu
te

d 
Tr

ad
e 

R
ec

ei
va

bl
es

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

go
od

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
-

(iv
) 

D
is

pu
te

d 
Tr

ad
e 

R
ec

ei
va

bl
es

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

do
ub

tf
ul

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
-

 
 

36
.3

8 
3.

16
 

 0
.0

2 
- 

 
 

- 
 

 3
9.

56
 

Le
ss

 th
an

 6
 

m
on

th
s

6 
m

on
th

s-
1

ye
ar

1-
2 

ye
ar

s
2-

3 
ye

ar
s

M
or

e 
th

an
 3

 y
ea

rs

Ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1st
 M

ar
ch

 2
02

5

R
s.

 (I
n 

La
kh

s)

To
ta

l

Pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
s

O
ut

st
an

di
ng

 fo
r f

ol
lo

w
in

g 
pe

rio
ds

 fr
om

 d
ue

 d
at

e 
of

 p
ay

m
en

t

(i)
 

U
nd

is
pu

te
d 

Tr
ad

e 
re

ce
iv

ab
le

s 
–

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

go
od

 
17

.2
6 

 
0.

02
 

 
- 

- 
 

 
5.

00
 

 
 2

2.
27

(ii
) 

U
nd

is
pu

te
d 

Tr
ad

e 
R

ec
ei

va
bl

es
 –

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

do
ub

tf
ul

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
-

(ii
i) 

D
is

pu
te

d 
Tr

ad
e 

R
ec

ei
va

bl
es

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

go
od

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
-

(iv
) 

D
is

pu
te

d 
Tr

ad
e 

R
ec

ei
va

bl
es

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

do
ub

tf
ul

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
-

 
 

17
.2

6 
0.

02
 

 
- 

- 
 

 
5.

00
 

 
 2

2.
27

Le
ss

 th
an

 6
 

m
on

th
s

6 
m

on
th

s-
1

ye
ar

1-
2 

ye
ar

s
2-

3 
ye

ar
s

M
or

e 
th

an
 3

 y
ea

rs

Ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 3

1st
 M

ar
ch

 2
02

4

R
s.

 (I
n 

La
kh

s)



55

N
O

T
E

 2
.0

5
 P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
, P

LA
N

T
 A

N
D

 E
Q

U
IP

M
E

N
T

CO
UN

CI
L 

FO
R 

FA
IR

 B
US

IN
ES

S 
PR

AC
TI

CE
S 

LI
M

IT
ED

Rs
. I

n 
La

kh
s

Ai
r C

on
di

tio
n 

 1
.2

2 
 - 

   
 - 

   
 1

.2
2 

  0
.7

6 
 0

.0
6 

 
  - 

   
 0

.8
2 

 0
.4

0 
  

 0
.4

6

O
ffi

ce
 E

qu
ip

m
en

t 
 1

.4
9 

 - 
   

 - 
   

 1
.4

9 
 1

.4
2 

 
-  

 
  - 

   
 1

.4
2 

 0
.0

7 
 

  
0.

07

Fu
rn

itu
re

 &
 F

Ix
tu

re
s 

 7
.6

2 
 - 

   
 - 

   
 7

.6
2 

 6
.6

6 
 

 0
.2

0 
 

  - 
   

 6
.8

6 
 

 0
.7

6 
 

  
0.

96

Co
m

pu
te

r 
 2

.4
5 

- 
 - 

   
 2

.4
5 

 2
.3

1 
 

0.
03

  
  - 

   
 2

.3
3 

 
 0

.1
2 

 
  

0.
14

 

To
ta

l T
an

gi
bl

e 
A

ss
et

s 
(a

) 
 1

2.
79

 
 - 

 
 - 

   
 1

2.
79

 
 1

1.
15

  
0.

28
  

  - 
   

 1
1.

43
 

 1
.3

5 
  

1.
63

In
ta

ng
ib

le
 A

ss
et

s 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

W
eb

si
te

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
3.

65
 

 - 
 

- 
 3

.6
5 

2.
81

 
 0

.7
2 

 
 

  
3.

53
 

 
0.

12
  

 0
.8

4

To
ta

l  
In

ta
ng

ib
le

 A
ss

et
s 

(b
) 

 3
.6

5 
- 

 
 3

.6
5 

 
 2

.8
1 

 
  0

.7
2 

 
 

 
 3

.5
3 

 0
.1

2 
 

0.
84

TO
TA

L 
(a

+b
) 

 1
6.

44
 

 - 
 - 

   
 1

6.
44

 
 1

3.
96

 
 1

.0
0 

  - 
   

 1
4.

96
 

1.
47

 
 

2.
47

Pr
ev

io
us

 Y
ea

r 
16

.4
4 

-  
 - 

   
16

.4
4 

12
.7

4 
1.

22
 

- 
 

13
.9

6 
2.

47
 

 
3.

69

AS
SE

ST
S 

As
 a

t 
Ad

di
tio

ns
  

 D
ed

uc
tio

ns
  

 U
pt

o 
  

 A
s 

at
   

 
 F

or
 th

e 
Ye

ar
  

 D
ed

uc
tio

ns
 

Up
to

 
As

 a
t  

As
 a

t

 
01

.0
4.

20
24

 
 

 
31

.0
3.

20
25

 
01

.0
4.

20
24

 
 

 
31

.0
3.

20
25

 
31

.0
3.

20
25

 
31

.0
3.

20
24

Gr
os

s 
Bl

oc
k

DE
PR

EC
IA

TI
ON

/A
m

or
tiz

at
io

n
NE

T 
BL

OC
K

Rs
. (

In
 L

ak
hs

)
Rs

. (
In

 L
ak

hs
)

Rs
. (

In
 L

ak
hs

)
Rs

. (
In

 L
ak

hs
)

Rs
. (

In
 L

ak
hs

)
Rs

. (
In

 L
ak

hs
)



56

N
O

T
E

 :2
.1

8

R
A

T
IO

'S

Th
e 

co
m

pa
ny

 s
ha

ll 
ex

pl
ai

n 
th

e 
ite

m
s 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 n

um
er

at
or

 a
nd

 d
en

om
in

at
or

 fo
r c

om
pu

tin
g 

th
e 

ab
ov

e 
ra

tio
s.

 F
ur

th
er

 e
xp

la
na

tio
n 

sh
al

l b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 fo
r a

ny
 c

ha
ng

e 
in

 th
e 

ra
tio

 b
y 

m
or

e 
th

an
 2

5%
 a

s 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 th

e 
pr

ec
ed

in
g 

ye
ar

. 
 

 
 

 
 

(a
) 

C
ur

re
nt

 R
at

io
, 

C
ur

re
nt

 A
ss

et
s 

C
ur

re
nt

 L
ia

bi
lit

ie
s 

 
29

.3
4 

15
0.

49
 

-8
1%

 
Th

e 
R

at
io

 h
as

  i
m

pa
ct

ed
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

du
e 

to
 c

on
si

de
ra

bl
e 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
in

 c
re

as
e 

in
 C

ur
re

nt
 A

ss
et

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
th

an
 C

ur
re

nt
 L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s 
in

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
co

m
pa

ris
io

n 
w

ith
 th

e 
pr

ev
io

us
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
ye

ar

(b
) 

D
eb

t-E
qu

ity
 R

at
io

, 
To

ta
l D

eb
t 

Sh
ar

e 
H

ol
de

r's
 E

qu
ity

  
- 

- 
N

.A
 

 
 

Ea
rn

in
gs

 fo
r D

eb
t S

er
vi

ce
 =

 N
et

 
D

eb
t S

er
vi

ce
 =

 In
te

re
st

 
 

Pr
ofi

t a
ft

er
 ta

xe
s 

+N
on

-c
as

h 
& 

Le
as

e 
Pa

ym
en

ts
 +

(c
) 

D
eb

t S
er

vi
ce

 C
ov

er
ag

e 
R

at
io

, 
op

er
at

in
g 

Ex
pe

ns
es

 
Pr

in
ci

pl
e 

re
pa

ym
en

ts
  

- 
- 

N
.A

 
 

 
 

N
et

 P
ro

fit
 a

ft
er

 ta
xe

s 
- 

Av
er

ag
e 

Sh
ar

eh
ol

de
rs

(d
) 

R
et

ur
n 

on
 E

qu
ity

 R
at

io
 

Pr
ef

er
en

ce
 D

iv
id

en
d 

Eq
ui

ty
 

 
- 

- 
N

.A
 

(e
) 

In
ve

nt
or

y 
tu

rn
ov

er
 ra

tio
, 

C
os

t o
f G

oo
ds

 S
ol

d 
Av

er
ag

e 
In

ve
nt

or
y 

 
- 

- 
N

.A
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Th

e 
R

at
io

 h
as

 im
pa

ct
ed

 
(f

) 
 T

ra
de

 R
ec

ei
va

bl
es

 tu
rn

ov
er

 ra
tio

, 
N

et
 C

re
di

t S
al

es
 =

 G
ro

ss
 C

re
di

t 
Av

er
ag

e 
Tr

ad
e 

 
 

 
 

du
e 

to
 in

cr
ea

se
 in

 T
ra

de
  

 
 

Sa
le

s 
- S

al
es

 R
et

ur
n 

R
ec

ei
va

bl
e 

 
0.

81
 

3.
15

 
-7

4%
 

R
ec

ei
va

bl
es

 a
nd

 re
du

ct
io

n 
in

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
R

ev
en

ue
 fr

om
 O

pe
ra

tio
ns

 a
s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 p

re
vi

ou
s 

ye
ar

 
 

N
et

 C
re

di
t P

ur
ch

as
e 

= 
G

ro
ss

 
 

 
 

 
 

Th
e 

R
at

io
 h

as
 im

pa
ct

ed
 

 
 

C
re

di
t P

ur
ch

as
e 

- P
ur

ch
as

e 
 

 
 

 
 

du
e 

to
 in

cr
ea

se
 in

 T
ra

de
(g

) 
Tr

ad
e 

pa
ya

bl
es

 tu
rn

ov
er

 ra
tio

 
R

et
ur

n 
Av

er
ag

e 
Tr

ad
e 

Pa
ya

bl
e 

14
.8

7 
10

0.
91

 
-8

5%
 

Pa
ya

bl
es

 a
s 

co
m

pa
re

d
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
to

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
ye

ar
 

 
 

W
or

ki
ng

 C
ap

ita
l =

 
 

 
 

 
Th

e 
R

at
io

 h
as

 im
pa

ct
ed

 
 

N
et

 S
al

es
 =

 T
ot

al
 S

al
es

 - 
Sa

le
s 

C
ur

re
nt

 A
ss

et
s 

- 
 

 
 

 
to

 d
ec

re
as

e 
in

 R
ev

en
ue

(h
) 

N
et

 c
ap

ita
l t

ur
no

ve
r r

at
io

, 
R

et
ur

n 
C

ur
re

nt
 L

ia
bi

lit
ie

s 
 

0.
23

 
0.

42
 

-4
5%

 
fr

om
 O

pe
ra

tio
ns

 a
s 

co
m

pa
re

d 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

to
 p

re
vi

ou
s 

ye
ar

 
 

 
N

et
 S

al
es

 =
 T

ot
al

 S
al

es
 - 

 
 

 
Th

e 
R

at
io

 h
as

 im
pa

ct
ed

(i)
 N

et
 p

ro
fit

 ra
tio

, 
N

et
 P

ro
fit

 
sa

le
s 

R
et

ur
n 

 
 (1

.0
8)

 
 0

.0
1 

-1
09

42
%

 
du

e 
to

 lo
ss

 in
 c

ur
re

nt
 y

ea
r a

nd
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

de
cr

ea
se

 in
 R

ev
en

ue
 fr

om
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

O
pe

ra
tio

ns
 a

s 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

pr
ev

io
us

 y
ea

r
(j)

 R
et

ur
n 

on
 C

ap
ita

l e
m

pl
oy

ed
, 

Ea
rn

in
g 

Be
fo

re
 In

te
re

st
 &

 T
ax

es
 

C
ap

ita
l E

m
pl

oy
ed

 =
 

 
 

 
 

Th
e 

R
at

io
 h

as
 im

pa
ct

ed
  

 
 

 
Ta

ng
ib

le
 N

et
 W

or
th

 
 

 
 

 
du

e 
to

 lo
ss

 in
 c

ur
re

nt
 y

ea
r

 
 

 
+T

ot
al

 D
eb

t +
 D

ef
er

re
d 

 
 

 
an

d 
de

cr
ea

se
 in

 R
ev

en
ue

 
 

 
Ta

x 
Li

ab
ili

ty
 

 
 (0

.1
6)

 
 0

.0
03

 
-5

38
6%

 
fr

om
 O

pe
ra

tio
ns

 a
s 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 p

re
vi

ou
s 

ye
ar

(k
) R

et
ur

n 
on

 in
ve

st
m

en
t. 

EB
T 

Eq
ui

ty
 S

ha
re

 C
ap

ita
l 

 
- 

- 
N

.A

Pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
s

N
um

er
at

or
De

no
m

in
at

or
31

st
 M

ar
ch

 2
02

5
31

st
 M

ar
ch

 2
02

4
%

 C
ha

ng
e

Re
m

ar
ks



57

COUNCIL FOR FAIR BUSINESS 
PRACTICES LIMITED

CIN: U51900MH1968NPL013966
NOTE - I

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS 

FOR THE YEAR 2024-2025

Council for fair Business Practices is a company to promote fair trade practices in Industry and Trade in the interests of the consumer and to 
create greater public goodwill towards the business community.

1. Significant Accounting Policies adopted

(a)  Recognition of Income and Expenditure:
 Revenues / Income and Costs / Expenditure are generally accounted on accrual basis as they are earned or incurred.

(b)  Membership Fee received towards Donor Member, Benefactor Member and Patron Member is not taken to General Fund till the last 
installment is received from such member. The installments received are treated as Advance towards Membership Fee.

(c)  Entrance Fee, Life Membership, Donor, Patron and Benefactor Membership Fee is taken to General Fund.

(d) Property, Plant and Equipment:

(i) All Tangible Assets are stated at their cost less accumulated depreciation.

(ii) Depreciation

Depreciation has been provided on Written down Value Method based on estimated useful lives of the assets as per Schedule II to the 
Companies Act, 2013.

 

(iii)  IIntangible assets are amortized over the estimated period of the life of the asset.
 Depreciation on addition to assets or on sale / discardment of assets is calculated pro-rata  from the date of such addition or upto the 

date of such sale/discardment, as the case may be.

(e) Investments:

 Investments are stated at cost of acquisition. Permanent diminutions in value of Long Term Investments, if any, are recognized. 
Appreciation realized / diminution provided for  in the value of investments earmarked against specific fund, is appropriated to the fund.

(f) Contribution to Provident Fund / Pension Scheme is accounted on accrual basis and charged to the Income and Expenditure Account of 
the year.

(g) Government Grants:

 As regards recurring Government grants, the same are reduced from related expenses. Government grants are recognized in financial 
statements on a systematic and rational basis over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs.

 

 Computer Equipment  3 years

 Air Conditioner 15 years

 Furniture and Fixtures  10 years

 Office Equipments  5 years

Particulars of Assets Useful life
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2. Contingent Liability as on 31st March 2025

 Claims against Company not acknowledged as debt 
 
 Sr  Particulars Status  Contingent Part Payment of
 No.    Liability Demand
    Rs. (in Lakhs) Rs. (in Lakhs)

 1 Appeal Preferred (AY 17-18) to Commissioner  Appeal Pending 3.53 0.62
  of Income Tax (Appeals) against the demand  with CIT 
  raised by the assessing officer with regards to (Appeals) 
  the donations received against Corpus Fund 
  considered as normal receipts of donations.                        

 2 Appeal Preferred (AY 15-16) to Commissioner of  Appeal Pending 33.05 0
  Income Tax (Appeals) wherein Assessing Officer  with CIT
  has disallowed to carried forward the Deficit of  (Appeals)
  the Asst. years 2014-15 & 2015-16.
  Order dated 29th April 2023 u/s 250 of the Income 
  Tax Act 1961 has been issued by the Commissioner 
  of Income Tax (Appeals) in favour of the Company. 
  The CIT (Appeals) has directed the AO to allow 
  to carry foward of the deficit in the succeeding years 
  after verification of Facts. Further, the AO has issued 
  Notice dated 6th July 2023 for submission of 
  various documents to which response  

  have  been submitted on 12th July 2023

 3 Appeal Preferred (AY 18-19) to Commissioner of Appeal Pending  18.94 0
  Income Tax (Appeals) wherein Assessing Officer  with CIT 
  has raised demand with regards to donations  (Appeals)
  received for CFBP Film Festival and CFBP 
  Jamnalal Bajaj Puraskar not considering the same 
  as exempt under Sec 11 rws 12 (1) of the Act.

 4 Appeal Preffered (AY 23-24) to Commissioner of  Appeal Pending  28.98 0
  Income Tax (Appeals) wherein in the intimation  with CIT 
  u/s 143(1), an amount of Rs. 76.36 Lakhs  has been  (Appeals)
  brought to tax under Sec 115BBI of the Act.

3. Previous Year's figures have been regrouped/recast wherever necessary.

As per our attached Report of even date,

For and on behalf of M. G. VED & Co.,

sd/-  sd/- sd/-
Chartered Accountants                Swapnil Kothari Vineet Bhatnagar
PROPRIETOR President Vice President
FRN No. 111337W DIN: 05235636 DIN: 00475116  

sd/-  sd/- sd/
(Mayur Kapadia) Bhalchandra Barve Ashok Bhansali
Proprietor Hon. Secretary Hon. Treasurer
M No. 114454 DIN: 00038468  DIN: 00452374

Place : Mumbai

Date :  24-07-2025



Term 
Member

Redressal of Consumer Grievance: CFBP plays a key role to protect and satisfy consumers and redress their grievances. CFBP enhances 
better communication between complainant and organization complained against, by arranging joint meetings. Through such meetings, 
many of the cases are resolved to the satisfaction of both parties.

Membership: You can become the member in following categories

C O D E  O F  C O N D U C T
TO NOT TO

• Maintain the highest ethical standards in business 
and professions.

• Ensure maximum transparency to the satisfaction of  
 consumers and other stakeholders.

• Consider objectively the viewpoint of the consumers.
• Satisfy the consumer with prompt, efficient and   

 friendly service at a reasonable price.

• Use media to mislead consumers. 
• Knowingly support activities, which are against the laws 

of the land. 
• Misuse an advantageous market position to the   

 detriment of consumers.

B E  A  P R O U D  C F B P  M E M B E R

CFBP was established in 1966 by stalwarts of business & industry like Mr. J.R.D. Tata, Mr.Ramkrishna Bajaj, Mr.Arvind Mafatlal, 
Mr.F.T.Khorakiwala, Mr. Naval Tata,  Mr. S. P. Godrej,  Mr.J.N.Guzder, and Mr. Keshub Mahindra & others who recognized the imperative 
need of business & industry to regulate itself. 

CFBP undertakes a wide spectrum of initiatives to further its mission by educating and creating awareness among businessmen, 
professionals and consumers about their respective rights, duties and obligations through workshops, seminars, publication, Audio 
Visual Presentations etc. It serves as a bridge between the manufacturers & consumers for promotion of good business relationship.

Role of CFBP Members
1. Your responsibility is to create awareness about Fair Business Practices.
2. To motivate Manufactures and Professionals to participate in CFBP Jamnalal Bajaj Awards for Fair Business Practices.
3. To organize Various Consumer Education Programs.
4. To create awareness among people to reach out to the Council for Consumer Grievances.
5. To display the CFBP Certificate prominently in your organization / office.
6. To motivate people to do the testing of their food products at CFBP Ramkrishna Bajaj Testing Centre at S.N.D.T., Juhu.
7. To motivate schools / college authorities to organize consumer awareness programs in the schools / colleges.
8. To motivate people to become members & follow the mission of CFBP towards Fair Business Practices.

Association 
Member

Patron 
Member

Benefactor 
Member

Donor 
Member

Life 
Member

Long 
Term Member

Great Western Building, 130/132, Shahid Bhagat Singh Road,  Opp. Lion gate, Mumbai - 400 023. 
Tel.: 22885249/22842590, Fax: 22844783,  Email: info@cfbp.org  |  cfbpoffice@gmail.com
website: www.cfbp.org  |  www.ccrc.in
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Our Mission

“We shall promote the highest ethical practices, by business and professionals, 
in order to provide complete satisfaction to consumers and other stakeholders.”
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